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We have audited the group financial statements of Britvic plc for 
the 52 week period ended 29 September 2013 which comprise the 
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated balance sheet, the 
consolidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
by the European Union. 

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, 
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement 
set out on page 59, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the group financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the group financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and 
non-financial statements information in the Annual Report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect 
based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired 
by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of 
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements:

• �give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at  
29 September 2013 and of its profit for the 52 week period then 
ended:

• �have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the European Union; and

• �have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
We identified the following risks of material misstatement which 
had the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy; the allocation 
of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the 
engagement team:

• �the assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite 
lived assets;

• �the accounting for the Group’s derivatives and hedging activities;

• �revenue recognition – in particular the treatment of long term 
discounts, promotional discounts and account development 
funds and the timing of revenue recognition;

• the accounting for the defined benefit pension scheme; and

• the risk of management override of internal control

Our application of materiality
Materiality is a key part of planning and executing our audit strategy. 
For the purposes of determining whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we define materiality as the 
magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the 
aggregate, in light of the surrounding circumstances, could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of the 
users of the financial statements. As we develop our audit strategy, 
we determine materially at the overall financial statement level and 
at the individual account level. Performance materiality is the 
application of materiality at the individual account level.

Planning the audit solely to detect individually material 
misstatements overlooks the fact that the aggregate of individually 
immaterial misstatements may cause the financial statements to 
be materially misstated, and leaves no margin for possible 
undetected misstatements. Performance materiality is set to 
reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the 
aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole. 

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we determined a 
magnitude of uncorrected misstatements that we judged would be 
material for the financial statements as a whole. We determined 
materiality for the group to be £5.2 million (2012: £5.1 million), 
which is approximately 5% (2012: 5%) of adjusted pre-tax profit. 
We used adjusted pre-tax profits to exclude those items classified 
as exceptional items within the financial statements. This provided 
the basis for determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures, and identifying and assessing the risk of material 
misstatement. 

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our 
assessment of the group’s overall control environment, our 
judgement was that overall performance materiality (i.e. our 
tolerance for misstatement in an individual account or balance) for 
the group should be 75% (2012: 75%) of planning materiality, 
namely £3.9 million (2012: £3.8 million). Our objective in adopting 
this approach was to ensure that the total detected and 
undetected audit differences did not exceed our planning 
materiality of £5.2 million for the financial statements as a whole. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the 
Committee all audit differences in excess of £0.26 million (2012: 
£0.25 million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in 
our view warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
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An overview of the scope of our audit
In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the consolidated 
financial statements, our Group audit scope focused on three 
operating locations, of which one was subject to a full scope audit 
for the 52 week period ended 29 september 2013. The remaining 
two operating locations were subject to a specific scope audit, 
where the extent of the audit work was based on our assessment 
of the risk of material misstatement and the materiality of the 
Group’s business operations at those locations. The audit of these 
three locations was performed at a materiality level calculated by 
reference to a proportion of Group materiality appropriate to the 
relevant scale of the individual business unit. Together with the 
Group Functions, which were also subject to a full scope audit 
these locations represent the principal business units of the Group 
and account for 100% of the Group’s total assets, 100% of the 
Group’s revenue and 100% of the Group’s operating profit. 

The Senior Statutory Auditor also leads the audit at the full scope 
location and has visited one of the specific scope locations during 
the year. For all locations in scope in addition to the locations 
visited the group audit team remained in continuous contact with 
component teams and reviewed the work on key audit areas.

Our response to the risks of material misstatement identified 
above included the following procedures:

The assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and 
indefinite lived assets
• �we challenged management’s assessment of impairment, 

including the key inputs of the forecast cash flows, the discount 
rate used, the growth rate assumed and the historical accuracy 
of budgets and we used a valuation specialist to assist us with 
our consideration of the discount rate used;

•  we evaluated management’s sensitivity analysis; and 

• �we ensured that the financial statement disclosures met the 
requirements of accounting standards.

The accounting for the Group’s derivatives and hedging 
activities
• �we obtained direct external confirmations of the valuation for 

each of the derivative instruments held and tested a sample of 
valuations to ensure they had been reasonably calculated;

• �we evaluated management’s documentation and assessment of 
hedge effectiveness; and

• �we ensured that the financial statement disclosures were in 
accordance with accounting standards.

Revenue recognition – including the treatment of long term 
discounts, promotional discounts and account development 
funds and the timing of revenue recognition
• �we tested a sample of long term discounts, promotional 

discounts and account development funds to ensure the revenue 
recognition policies adopted complied with IFRS;

• �we carried out testing relating to controls over revenue 
recognition, including the timing of revenue recognition;

• �we performed analytical procedures, cut-off testing on customer 
delivery notes around the period end and journal testing around 
revenue; and

• �we ensured that the financial statement disclosures were in 
accordance with accounting standards.

The accounting for the defined benefit pension
• �we reviewed and challenged the assumptions used in the 

pension liability valuations and we used a pensions specialist to 
assist us with this procedure;

• �we understood and challenged management’s input into the 
assumptions underpinning the liability;

• �we tested a sample of the pension asset valuations to ensure 
they had been reasonably calculated; and

• �we ensured that the financial statement disclosures were in 
accordance with accounting standards.

The risk management override of internal control
• �we performed tailored procedures, sufficient to address the 

identified risk in respect of subjective areas which were 
considered to be most susceptible to management override. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the 
Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the group financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the group financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the ISAs (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, 
in our opinion, information in the annual report is:

• �materially inconsistent with the information in the audited 
financial statements; or

• �apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially 
inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the 
course of performing our audit; or

• is otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have 
identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired 
during the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the 
annual report is fair, balanced and understandable and whether the 
annual report appropriately discloses those matters that we 
communicated to the audit committee which we consider should 
have been disclosed. 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, 
in our opinion:

• �certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or

• �we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

• �the directors’ statement, set out on page 59, in relation to going 
concern; and

• �the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the 
company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code specified for our review; and

• �certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on 
directors’ remuneration.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial 
statements of Britvic plc for the 52 weeks ended 29 September 
2013 and on the information in the Director’s Remuneration Report 
that is described as having been audited.

Simon O’Neill (Senior statutory auditor) 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP,  
Statutory Auditor Birmingham

25 November 2013
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52 weeks 
ended 29 September 2013

52 weeks 
ended 30 September 2012

Note

Before 
exceptional & 

other items 
£m

Exceptional  
& other 
items* 

 £m
Total 
 £m

Before 
exceptional & 

other items 
£m

Exceptional  
& other  
items* 

 £m
Total 
 £m

Revenue 1,321.9 - 1,321.9 1,256.4 - 1,256.4
Cost of sales (646.9) - (646.9) (624.6) - (624.6)
Gross profit 675.0 - 675.0 631.8 - 631.8
Selling and distribution costs (351.5) - (351.5) (353.3) - (353.3)
Administration expenses (188.5) (26.2) (214.7) (165.8) (4.8) (170.6)
Operating profit / (loss) 6 135.0 (26.2) 108.8 112.7 (4.8) 107.9
Finance costs 9 (26.9) 0.7 (26.2) (28.3) (2.1) (30.4)
Profit / (loss) before tax 108.1 (25.5) 82.6 84.4 (6.9) 77.5
Taxation 10 (25.5) 4.8 (20.7) (21.5) 1.4 (20.1)
Profit / (loss) for the period 
attributable to the equity 
shareholders

82.6 (20.7) 61.9 62.9 (5.5) 57.4

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share 11 25.5p 23.8p
Diluted earnings per share 11 25.3p 22.4p
Adjusted basic earnings per share** 11 35.2p 27.2p
Adjusted diluted earnings per share** 11 34.9p 26.5p

* See note 5.

** �Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share measures have been adjusted by adding back exceptional & other items (see notes 5 and 11) and amortisation relating 
to acquired intangible assets (see note 14). 

All activities relate to continuing operations.
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Note

52 weeks ended 
 29 September 

2013
 £m

52 weeks ended 
30 September 

2012
 £m

Profit for the period attributable to the equity shareholders 61.9 57.4

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension schemes 22 (32.4) 9.2
Deferred tax on actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension schemes 10 4.4 (7.9)
Current tax on additional pension contributions 10 3.1 4.6

(24.9) 5.9

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Losses in the period in respect of cash flow hedges 25 (1.4) (17.0)
Amounts recycled to the income statement in respect of cash flow hedges 25 0.1 9.5
Deferred tax in respect of cash flow hedges accounted for in the hedging reserve 10 0.4 2.1
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 25 - (3.9)
Tax on exchange differences accounted for in the translation reserve 10 (2.9) 4.0
Deferred tax on other temporary differences 10 0.2 -

(3.6) (5.3)

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax (28.5) 0.6

Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to the equity shareholders 33.4 58.0
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Note
2013

£m
2012

£m

Assets
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 13 215.7 236.6
Intangible assets 14 317.0 305.2
Other receivables 16 3.8 3.6
Other financial assets 25 62.5 92.1
Pension asset 22 0.1 7.5

599.1 645.0

Current assets

Inventories 17 90.8 73.8
Trade and other receivables 18 266.1 257.4
Other financial assets 25 12.8 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents 19 94.0 49.5

463.7 380.8
Total assets 1,062.8 1,025.8

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 23 (381.5) (357.2)
Bank overdrafts 19 (2.5) (1.9)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 21 (91.6) (0.6)
Other financial liabilities 25 (1.4) (4.4)
Current income tax payable (17.0) (7.8)
Provisions 27 (10.5) -

(504.5) (371.9)

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 21 (458.3) (558.7)
Deferred tax liabilities 10e (27.8) (34.1)
Pension liability 22 (19.4) (11.2)
Other financial liabilities 25 (10.0) (10.9)
Other non-current liabilities 26 (1.9) (1.9)

(517.4) (616.8)
Total liabilities (1,021.9) (988.7)
Net assets 40.9 37.1

Capital and reserves

Issued share capital 20 49.0 48.5
Share premium account 25.0 17.7
Own shares reserve (1.1) (0.8)
Share scheme reserve 7.5 4.2
Hedging reserve 2.7 3.6
Translation reserve 19.6 22.5
Merger reserve 87.3 87.3
Retained losses (149.1) (145.9)
Total equity 40.9 37.1

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 25 November 2013. 
They were signed on its behalf by:

Simon Litherland	 John Gibney 
Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer
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Note
2013

£m
2012

£m

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 82.6 77.5
Finance costs 9 26.2 30.4
Other financial instruments (6.0) (1.4)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 13,14 12.9 14.9
Depreciation 13 36.6 34.4
Amortisation 14 7.1 9.5
Share based payments 28 6.2 3.0
Net pension charge less contributions (17.2) (31.1)
(Increase)/decrease in inventory (14.9) 10.9
Increase in trade and other receivables (4.7) (2.0)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 9.9 (2.8)
Increase in provisions 10.5 -
Loss on disposal of tangible and intangible assets 3.8 1.5
Income tax paid (11.2) (12.5)
Net cash flows from operating activities 141.8 132.3

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 2.2
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (26.3) (43.9)
Purchases of intangible assets (8.9) (5.4)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (34.9) (47.1)

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance costs - (0.1)
Interest paid (26.6) (28.5)
Interest bearing loans repaid (0.9) (1.0)
Issue of shares 7.1 2.0
Purchase of own shares - (9.3)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders 12 (42.5) (42.5)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (62.9) (79.4)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 44.0 5.8
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 47.6 43.0
Exchange rate differences 29 (0.1) (1.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 19 91.5 47.6
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Issued  
share  

capital
£m

Share 
premium 
account

£m

Own shares 
reserve

£m

Share 
scheme 
reserve

£m

Hedging 
reserve

£m

Translation 
reserve

£m

 Merger 
reserve

£m

Retained 
losses

£m
Total

£m

At 2 October 2011 48.3 15.0 (1.0) 7.8 9.0 22.4 87.3 (166.3) 22.5

Profit for the period - - - - - - - 57.4 57.4

Other comprehensive income - - - - (5.4) 0.1 - 5.9 0.6

- - - - (5.4) 0.1 - 63.3 58.0

Issue of shares 0.2 2.7 (2.4) - - - - - 0.5

Own shares purchased for 
share schemes

- - (9.3) - - - - - (9.3)

Own shares utilised for 
share schemes

- - 11.9 (5.6) - - - (2.0) 4.3

Movement in share based 
schemes

- - - 2.0 - - - - 2.0

Current tax on share based 
payments

- - - - - - - 0.6 0.6

Deferred tax on share based 
payments

- - - - - - - 1.0 1.0

Payment of dividend - - - - - - - (42.5) (42.5)
At 30 September 2012 48.5 17.7 (0.8) 4.2 3.6 22.5 87.3 (145.9) 37.1

Profit for the period - - - - - - - 61.9 61.9

Other comprehensive 
income

- - - - (0.9) (2.9) - (24.7) (28.5)

- - - - (0.9) (2.9) - 37.2 33.4

Issue of shares 0.5 7.3 (2.1) - - - - - 5.7

Own shares utilised for 
share schemes

- - 1.8 (1.8) - - - 1.4 1.4

Movement in share based 
schemes

- - - 5.1 - - - - 5.1

Current tax on share based 
payments

- - - - - - - 1.0 1.0

Deferred tax on share based 
payments

- - - - - - - (0.3) (0.3)

Payment of dividend - - - - - - - (42.5) (42.5)
At 29 September 2013 49.0 25.0 (1.1) 7.5 2.7 19.6 87.3 (149.1) 40.9
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1. General information

Britvic plc (the “company”) is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006. It is a public limited 
company domiciled in England & Wales and its ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange. Britvic plc and its subsidiaries 
(together the “group”) operate in the soft drinks manufacturing and distribution industry, principally in the United Kingdom, Republic of 
Ireland and France.

The operating companies of the group are disclosed within note 31.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 November 2013.

2. Statement of compliance 

The financial information has been prepared on the basis of applicable International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union (IFRS), as they apply to the financial statements of the group. 

3. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. For further detail, please refer to note 32.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except where measurement of balances at fair value 
is required as explained below. The consolidated financial statements of the group are presented in pounds sterling, which is also the 
functional currency of the company, and all values are rounded to the nearest 0.1 million except where otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements of the group incorporate the financial information of the company and the entities controlled by the 
company (its subsidiaries) in accordance with IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the company, using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group transactions, 
balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired or disposed of in the 
year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the group gains control or up to the date control ceases 
respectively. Control comprises the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefit from its 
activities and is achieved through direct or indirect ownership of voting rights; currently exercisable or convertible potential voting rights; 
or by way of contractual agreement. 

Revenue recognition
Revenue is the value of sales, excluding transactions with or between subsidiaries, after the deduction of sales related discounts and 
rebates, value added tax and other sales related taxes. Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered and accepted by customers, 
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and the amount can be measured reliably.

Sales related discounts are calculated based on the expected amounts necessary to meet claims by the group’s customers in respect of 
these discounts and rebates.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Cost comprises the 
aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset and includes costs directly attributable to 
making the asset capable of operating as intended. Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of an asset, less its estimated 
residual value, on a straight-line basis, over the useful economic life of that asset as follows:

Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years
Vehicles (included in plant and machinery) 5 to 7 years
Equipment in retail outlets (included in fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment) 5 to 10 years
Other fixtures and fittings (included in fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment) 3 to 10 years

Land is not depreciated.

Freehold properties are depreciated over 50 years.

Leasehold properties are depreciated over 50 years, or over the unexpired lease term when this is less than 50 years.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount, and are 
included in the consolidated income statement in the period of derecognition.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value may not be recoverable and are written down immediately to their recoverable amount. Useful lives and residual amounts 
are reviewed annually and where adjustments are required these are made prospectively.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

3. Accounting policies continued

Goodwill
While the original acquisition of Britannia Soft Drinks Limited was accounted for under the merger method, business combinations on or 
after 4 October 2004 have been accounted for under IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ using the acquisition method. On acquisition, the 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the 
cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. Any deficiency of the cost of 
acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired (discount on acquisition) is credited to the consolidated income 
statement in the period of acquisition.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired. As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to the group of cash-generating units expected to benefit 
from the combination’s synergies by management. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the group of 
cash-generating units to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is less than the carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. 

On disposal of a subsidiary the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets
Trademarks, franchise rights and customer lists
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at the fair value of consideration paid. Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation or impairment losses. An intangible asset acquired as 
part of a business combination is recognised outside goodwill, at fair value at the date of acquisition, if the asset is separable or arises 
from contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured reliably.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Amortisation is charged on assets with finite lives on a 
straight-line basis over a period appropriate to the asset’s useful life.

The carrying values of intangible assets with finite and indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are also tested for impairment annually either individually or, if the intangible asset does not 
generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, as part of the cash generating unit to 
which it belongs. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite 
to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Software Costs
Software expenditure is recognised as an intangible asset only after its technical feasibility and commercial viability can be demonstrated. 
Acquired computer software licences and software developed in-house are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use the specific software. Costs include resources focussed on delivery of capital projects where the choice has been made to 
use internal resource rather than external resources. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of three to seven years 
on a straight line basis.

Impairment of assets
The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or 
when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects senior management’s estimate of the cost of capital. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That 
increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior years. Goodwill impairment losses cannot subsequently be reversed.

Inventories and work in progress
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour 
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is determined 
using the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

3. Accounting policies continued

Financial assets 
The group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are 
measured at fair value, which is normally the transaction price, plus directly attributable transaction costs for those financial assets not 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. The group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired.

Loans and receivables
The group has financial assets that are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, do not qualify as trading assets and have not been designated as 
either fair value through profit or loss or available for sale. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method if 
the time value of money is significant. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated 
with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations. All derivative financial instruments are initially recognised and subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar 
maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments.

For those derivatives designated as hedges and for which hedge accounting is appropriate, the hedging relationship is documented at its 
inception. This documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and 
how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception to be highly effective.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken to the 
consolidated income statement. The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
depends on the nature of the hedging relationship, as follows:

Cash flow hedges
Hedges are classified as cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction. For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated 
income statement in the period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss, such as when a forecast sale occurs. However, when the 
forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset or liability.

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to 
the consolidated income statement. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, 
or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income remain in equity until the 
forecast transaction occurs and are then transferred to the consolidated income statement or included in the initial carrying amount of a 
non-financial asset or liability as above. 

Net investment hedges
Financial instruments are classified as net investment hedges when they hedge the group’s net investment in foreign operations. Some 
of the group’s foreign currency borrowings qualify as hedging instruments that hedge foreign currency net investment balances. The 
effective portion of gains or losses on translation of borrowings designated as net investment hedges is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement. Upon disposal of the 
associated investment in foreign operations any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled 
through the consolidated income statement.

Fair value hedges
Hedges of the change in fair value of recognised assets or liabilities are classified as fair value hedges. For fair value hedges, the gain or 
loss on the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in the consolidated income statement. The gain or loss on the hedged item 
attributable to the hedged risk adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged item and is also recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. If the hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the hedged item would no longer be adjusted and 
the cumulative adjustment to its carrying amount would be amortised to the consolidated income statement based on a recalculated 
effective interest rate. The fair value gain on loss on the hedging instrument would continue to be recorded in the consolidated income 
statement.

Derecognition of financial instruments
The derecognition of a financial asset takes place when the contractual rights to the cash flows expire, or when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows have either been transferred or an obligation has been assumed to pass them through to a third party and the group does 
not retain substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset.

Financial liabilities are only derecognised when they are extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

3. Accounting policies continued

Share-based payments
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. 
Fair value is determined by an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is 
taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of the shares (‘market conditions’).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting 
date’). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent 
to which the vesting period has expired and the number of equity instruments that, in the opinion of the directors and based on the best 
available estimate at that date, will ultimately vest (or in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as 
described below). The consolidated income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, 
which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance 
conditions are satisfied.

Taxation
The current income tax expense is based on taxable profits for the period, after any adjustments in respect of prior periods. It is 
calculated using taxation rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and is measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.

Provision is made for deferred tax liabilities, or credit taken for deferred tax assets, on all material temporary differences between the tax 
base of assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the consolidated financial statements.

The principal temporary differences arise from accelerated capital allowances, provisions for pensions and other post-retirement benefits, 
provisions for share-based payments and unutilised losses incurred in overseas jurisdiction.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the asset or liability will be settled based on 
the tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when: the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due 
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Pensions and post retirement benefits
The group operates a number of pension schemes. These include both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.

Defined benefit plans
The defined benefit pension liability or asset in the balance sheet comprises the total for each plan of the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation less any past service cost not yet recognised and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be 
settled directly. Plan assets are measured at fair value based on market price information and in the case of quoted securities, the 
published bid price. Plan liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis, using the projected unit credit method and discounted at an 
interest rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the plan liabilities.

The movement in the defined benefit pension asset or liability in the balance sheet consists of four main elements:

-	� The service cost of providing pension benefits to employees for the period which is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

-	� A charge representing the unwinding of the discount on the plan liabilities during the year which is included within administrative 
expenses.

-	� A credit representing the expected return on the plan assets during the year which is included within administrative expenses. This 
credit is based on the market value of the plan assets, and expected rates of return, at the beginning of the period.

-	� Actuarial gains and losses. These may result from: differences between the expected return and the actual return on plan assets; 
differences between the actuarial assumptions underlying the plan liabilities and actual experience during the year; or changes in the 
actuarial assumptions used in the valuation of the plan liabilities. Actuarial gains and losses, and taxation thereon, are recognised 
immediately in other comprehensive income.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

3. Accounting policies continued

Changes to benefits under a defined benefit plan are accounted for as follows:

-	� Past service cost is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation for employee service in prior periods, resulting 
from changes to post-employment benefits. Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period or immediately if the benefits have vested.

-	� When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for part or all of the benefits already accrued) or a curtailment (reducing future obligations 
as a result of a material reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future entitlement) occurs the obligation and related plan 
assets are re-measured using current actuarial assumptions and the resultant gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement during the period in which the settlement or curtailment occurs.

Any net pension assets arising are assessed for restrictions.

Defined contribution plans
Under defined contribution plans, contributions payable for the period are charged to the consolidated income statement as an operating 
expense.

Employee benefits
Wages, salaries, bonuses and paid annual leave are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by the employees 
of the group.

Leases
Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases by the group. Leases in which the group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Any lease 
incentives received are credited to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases to which they 
relate.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less, which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts repayable on demand are a component of cash and 
cash equivalents.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day terms, are recognised at the lower of their original invoiced value and recoverable 
amount.

Provision is made when collection of the full amount is no longer considered probable. Balances are written off when the probability of 
recovery is assessed as being remote. 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Interest bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised in the balance sheet at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs 
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised respectively in finance 
income and finance cost.

Foreign currencies
Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements of the group are presented in pounds sterling. The presentation currency of the consolidated 
financial statements is the same as the functional currency of the company.

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the 
consolidated income statement, except when hedge accounting is applied and for differences in monetary assets and liabilities that form 
part of the group’s net investment in a foreign operation. These are taken in other comprehensive income until the disposal of the net 
investment, at which time they are recognised in profit and loss.

Foreign operations
The consolidated income statement and statement of cash flows of foreign operations are translated at the average rate of exchange 
during the period. The balance sheet is translated at the rate ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on opening net 
assets and arising on the translation of results at an average rate compared to a closing rate are both recognised in other comprehensive 
income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the accumulated exchange differences previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are included in the consolidated income statement. 

Certain of the group’s financial instruments are classified as net investment hedges when they hedge the group’s net investment in 
foreign operations. See derivative financial instruments and hedging policy above for further detail.

Segmental reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The 
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the board of directors of the company.
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3. Accounting policies continued

Issued share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

Other reserves
Share premium account
The share premium account is used to record the excess of proceeds over the nominal value on the issue of shares.

Own shares reserve
The own shares reserve is used to record purchases by the group of its own shares, which will be distributed to employees as and when 
share awards made under the Britvic employee share plans vest.

Share scheme reserve
The share scheme reserve is used to record the movements in equity corresponding to the cost recognised in respect of equity-settled 
share based payment transactions. Amounts recognised in the share scheme reserve are transferred to retained losses upon subsequent 
settlement of any awards that vest either by issue or purchase of the group’s shares, or when awards lapse.

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve records the effective portion of movements in the fair value of forward exchange contracts, interest rate and cross 
currency swaps that have been designated as hedging instruments in cash flow hedges.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve includes cumulative net exchange differences on translation into the presentational currency of items recorded in 
group entities with a non-sterling functional currency net of amounts recognised in respect of net investment hedges.

Merger reserve
The merger reserve arose as a result of the non pre-emptive share placement which took place on 21 May 2010. It was executed using a 
structure which created a merger reserve under Section 612-3 of the Companies Act 2006. 

Own shares
The cost of own shares held in employee share trusts and in treasury is deducted from shareholders’ equity until the shares are 
cancelled, reissued or disposed. Where such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, the fair value of any consideration received is also 
included in shareholders’ equity.

Exceptional and other items
The group presents items as exceptional and other items on the face of the consolidated income statement to allow shareholders to 
understand better the elements of financial performance in the year, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and to assess trends 
in financial performance more readily. 

•	�‘Exceptional’ items include those significant items of income and expense which, because of the size, nature and infrequency of the 
events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation.

•	�‘Other’ items include fair value movements on financial instruments where hedge accounting cannot be applied. These items have 
been included within ‘exceptional and other items’ because they are non-cash and do not form part of how management assesses 
performance.

Key judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year. 
However, the nature of estimation means that the actual outcomes could differ from those estimates. In the process of applying the 
group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements which have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Post retirement benefits
The determination of the pension and other post retirement benefits cost and obligation is based on assumptions determined with 
independent actuarial advice. The assumptions include discount rate, inflation, pension and salary increases, expected return on scheme 
assets, mortality and other demographic assumptions. These key assumptions are disclosed in note 22.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 
cash generating units to which the goodwill / intangible asset has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires an estimate of the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. Further 
details are given in note 15.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

3. Accounting policies continued

Cross currency interest rate swaps
The group measures cross currency interest rate swaps at fair value at each balance sheet date. The fair value represents the net present 
value of the difference between the projected cash flows at the swap contract rate and the relevant exchange/interest rate for the period 
from the balance sheet date to the contracted expiry date. The calculation therefore uses estimates of present value, future foreign 
exchange rates and interest rates. Information regarding cross currency interest rate swaps is provided in notes 21 and 25.

New standards adopted in the current period
During the period, the group adopted a number of interpretations and amendments to standards which had an immaterial impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the group.

New standards and interpretations not applied
The group has not applied the following IFRSs, which may be applicable to the group, that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective date – periods 
commencing on or after

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
IFRS 7 Amendment to IFRS 7 – Offsetting of assets and liabilities 1 January 2013
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Classification and measurement 1 January 2015
IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013
IFRS 11 Joint arrangements 1 January 2013
IFRS 12 Disclosures of interests in other entities 1 January 2013
IFRS 13 Fair value measurement 1 January 2013

International Accounting Standards (IAS)
IAS 19 IAS 19 (revised 2011) - Employee benefits 1 January 2013
IAS 27 IAS 27 (revised 2011) – Separate financial statements 1 January 2013
IAS 32 Amendment to IAS 32 – Offsetting of assets and liabilities 1 January 2014
IAS 36 Amendment to IAS 36 – Recoverable amount disclosures 

for non- financial assets
1 January 2014

IAS 39 Amendment to IFRS 9 – Novation of derivatives 
and continuation of hedge accounting

1 January 2014

Other

Annual improvements Annual improvements 2011 1 January 2013
IFRIC Interpretation 21 IFRIC 21 - Levies 1 January 2014

The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards, which will be adopted in line with the effective date will have a 
material impact on the group’s reported income or net assets in the period, with the exception of IAS 19 revised which is not anticipated 
to have a material impact on net assets, but the impact on the reported income of the group is not possible to determine as it will depend 
on conditions at the time of adoption. 

The most significant change for Britvic under IAS 19 revised is the replacement of interest cost and expected return on plan assets with a 
finance cost component which is determined by applying the same discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation to the 
net defined benefit liability or asset. The difference between the actual return on plan assets and the discount rate will be presented in 
other comprehensive income. The effect at the date of adoption will depend on market interest rates, rates of return and the actual mix of 
scheme assets at that time. Other changes will include the treatment of expenses paid in relation to the plans and the narrative 
disclosures. The directors consider that this change will not have a material impact on the group consolidated results. 
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4. Segmental reporting

For management purposes, the group is organised into business units and has five reportable segments as follows:

•	GB Stills – United Kingdom excluding Northern Ireland
•	GB Carbs – United Kingdom excluding Northern Ireland
•	Ireland – Republic of Ireland and Northern Ireland
•	France
•	International

These business units sell soft drinks into their respective markets.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on brand contribution. This is defined as revenue less 
material costs and all other marginal costs that management considers to be directly attributable to the sale of a given product. Such 
costs include brand specific advertising and promotion costs, raw materials and marginal production and distribution costs. However, 
group financing (including finance costs) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to reportable segments.

Transfer prices between reportable segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.

52 weeks ended
29 September 2013

GB Stills
£m

GB Carbs
£m

Total GB
£m

Ireland
£m

France
£m

International
£m

Adjustments
£m

Total
£m

Revenue

- External 340.1 536.4 876.5 136.9 271.0 37.5 - 1,321.9

- Inter-segment*** 22.9 8.3 31.2 18.0 1.4 - (50.6) -
363.0 544.7 907.7 154.9 272.4 37.5 (50.6) 1,321.9

Brand contribution 154.5 200.1 354.6 49.0 67.9 14.1 - 485.6
Non-brand advertising 
& promotion*

(7.3)

Fixed supply chain** (100.7)
Selling costs** (124.5)
Overheads and other 
costs*

(118.1)

Operating profit before 
exceptional & other 
items

135.0

Finance costs before 
exceptional & other items

(26.9)

Exceptional & other items (25.5)
Profit before tax 82.6

52 weeks ended 30 
September 2012

GB Stills
£m

GB Carbs
£m

Total GB
£m

Ireland
£m

France
£m

International
£m

Adjustments
£m

Total
£m

Revenue

- External 321.7 517.9 839.6 138.7 248.8 29.3 - 1,256.4

- Inter-segment*** 15.0 9.6 24.6 8.0 0.8 - (33.4) -
336.7 527.5 864.2 146.7 249.6 29.3 (33.4) 1,256.4

Brand contribution 141.2 188.7 329.9 44.6 59.2 8.3 - 442.0
Non-brand advertising & 
promotion*

(7.8)

Fixed supply chain** (100.3)
Selling costs** (118.0)
Overheads and other 
costs*

(103.2)

Operating profit before 
exceptional & other 
items

112.7

Finance costs before 
exceptional & other items

(28.3)

Exceptional & other 
items

(6.9)

Profit before tax 77.5

* �Included within ‘administration expenses’ in the consolidated income statement. Costs included within ‘overheads and other costs’ relate to central costs including 
salaries, IT maintenance, depreciation and amortisation.

** Included within ‘selling and distribution costs’ in the consolidated income statement.

*** Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

4. Segmental reporting continued

Geographic information
Revenues from external customers
The analysis below is based on the location where the sale originated.

2013
£m

2012
£m

United Kingdom 940.3 900.4
Republic of Ireland 110.6 107.2
France 271.0 248.8
Total revenue 1,321.9 1,256.4

Non-current assets

2013
£m

2012
£m

United Kingdom 236.7 260.1
Republic of Ireland 107.8 104.8
France 192.0 181.3
Total 536.5 546.2

Non-current assets for this purpose consist of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other receivables.

5. Exceptional and other items

Exceptional and other items are those items of financial performance that management believe should be separately disclosed by virtue 
of the size, nature and infrequency of the events giving rise to them to allow shareholders to better understand the elements of financial 
performance in the period so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods and to assess trends in financial performance more readily.

Unless otherwise stated, exceptional and other items are included within administration expenses in the consolidated income statement.

52 weeks ended 
29 September 2013

£m

52 weeks ended 
30 September 2012

£m

Net pension gain (a) - 21.1
Asset impairments (b) (12.9) (14.9)
Strategic restructuring costs (c) (10.6) (11.0)
Aborted merger costs (d) (9.6) -
Property and relocation costs (e) - (1.3)
Other fair value movements* (f) 7.6 (0.8)
Total exceptional and other items before tax (25.5) (6.9)

* 	�For the 52 weeks ended 29 September 2013, a gain of £6.9m is included within administration expenses (52 weeks ended 30 September 2012: £1.3m gain) and a 
gain of £0.7m is included within finance costs (52 weeks ended 30 September 2012: £2.1m loss) in the consolidated income statement.

a)		 In 2012, the net pension gain related to an Ireland pension curtailment gain.

b) 	�In 2013, asset impairments relates to the planned closure of two factories as part of the strategic cost initiatives announced in May 
2013.

		  In 2012, asset impairments related to the impairment of SAP implementation costs in Ireland.

c) 	� Strategic restructuring costs in 2013 relate to the implementation of cost initiatives announced in May 2013, including costs associated 
with the closure of two factories and planned changes to the business operating model.

		�  In 2012, restructuring costs included GB-related restructuring costs of £3.7m, Ireland restructuring costs of £5.2m and corporate 
acquisition due diligence costs of £2.1m.

d) 	In 2013, costs related to the previously proposed merger of Britvic plc and A.G.Barr plc.

e)		� In 2012, property and relocation costs related to the transfer of the Britvic plc head office from Chelmsford to Hemel Hempstead and 
a credit against an onerous lease provision relating to rental income received from a sublet during that year.

f)		� Other fair value movements relate to the fair value movement of derivative financial instruments where hedge accounting cannot be 
applied.

Details of the tax implications of exceptional items are given in note 10a.
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6. Operating profit/(loss)

This is stated after charging:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 646.9 624.6
Including: write-down of inventories to net realisable value 1.5 3.6

Research and development expenditure written off 0.6 0.6
Net foreign currency exchange differences 1.1 2.4
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 36.6 34.4
Amortisation of intangible assets 7.1 9.5
Operating lease payments – minimum lease payments 13.1 21.4

7. Auditor’s remuneration

2013
£m

2012
£m

Audit of the group financial statements 0.2 0.2
Audit of subsidiaries 0.4 0.4
Total audit 0.6 0.6

Audit related assurance services - -
Other assurance services 0.1 -
All taxation advisory services - 0.2
Corporate finance services (excluding amounts included above in tax advisory and other assurance 
services)

0.7 1.2

Other non-audit services not covered above 1.6 1.3
Total non-audit services 2.4 2.7
Total fees 3.0 3.3

8. Staff costs 

2013
£m

2012
£m

Wages and salaries* 119.4 125.4
Social security costs 20.3 19.0
Net pension charge/(income) (note 22)** 8.7 (7.3)
Expense of share based compensation (note 28) 6.2 3.0

154.6 140.1

*	 £6.7m (2012: £6.4m) of this is included within ‘strategic restructuring costs’ in exceptional and other items (note 5).

** 	�In 2012, the pension income includes a curtailment gain of £21.3m in relation to changes in the Ireland defined benefit pension plan which is included within 
exceptional and other items (note 5).

2013
£m

2012
£m

Directors’ emoluments 2.7 1.5
Aggregate gains made by directors on exercise of options - 0.7

2013
No.

2012
No.

Number of directors accruing benefits under defined benefit schemes - -
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notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

8. Staff costs continued

The average monthly number of employees during the period was made up as follows:

2013
No.

2012
No.

Distribution 331 370
Production 1,508 1,465
Sales and marketing 979 1,038
Administration 458 464

3,276 3,337

9. Finance costs

2013
£m

2012
£m

Bank loans, overdrafts and loan notes 26.9 28.3
Fair value movement on interest rate swap (see note 25) (0.7) 2.1
Total finance costs 26.2 30.4

10. Taxation

a)	 Tax on profit on continuing operations

2013

Before 
exceptional

& other items
£m

Exceptional
& other items

£m
Total

£m

Income statement

Current income tax
	 Current income tax (charge) / credit (26.9) 3.3 (23.6)

	 Amounts over/(under) provided in previous years 1.2 (1.1) 0.1

Total current income tax (charge) / credit (25.7) 2.2 (23.5)

Deferred income tax
	 Origination and reversal of temporary differences (0.5) 1.4 0.9

	 Impact of change in UK tax rate on deferred tax liability 3.0 0.2 3.2

	 Amounts (under)/over provided in previous years (2.3) 1.0 (1.3)

Total deferred tax credit 0.2 2.6 2.8

Total tax (charge) / credit in the income statement (25.5) 4.8 (20.7)

Statement of comprehensive income
Current tax on additional pension contributions 3.1

Deferred tax on actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes 4.4

Deferred tax in respect of cash flow hedges accounted for in the hedging reserve 0.4

Tax on exchange differences accounted for in the translation reserve (2.9)

Deferred tax on other temporary differences 0.2

Total tax credit in the statement of comprehensive income 5.2

Statement of changes in equity
Current tax on share options exercised 1.0

Deferred tax on share options granted to employees (0.3)

Total tax credit in the statement of changes in equity 0.7
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10. Taxation continued

a)	 Tax on profit on continuing operations continued

2012

Before 
exceptional

& other items
£m

Exceptional
& other items

£m
Total

£m

Income statement

Current income tax
	 Current income tax (charge) / credit (13.0) 3.2 (9.8)
	 Amounts underprovided in previous years (2.1) (0.3) (2.4)
Total current income tax (charge) / credit (15.1) 2.9 (12.2)

Deferred income tax
	 Origination and reversal of temporary differences (8.8) (1.7) (10.5)
	 Impact of change in UK tax rate on deferred tax liability 2.0 0.2 2.2
	 Amounts overprovided in previous years 0.4 - 0.4
Total deferred tax charge (6.4) (1.5) (7.9)
Total tax (charge) / credit in the income statement (21.5) 1.4 (20.1)

Statement of comprehensive income

Current tax on additional pension contributions 4.6
Deferred tax on actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes (7.9)
Deferred tax in respect of cash flow hedges accounted for in the hedging reserve 2.1
Tax on exchange differences accounted for in the translation reserve 4.0
Total tax credit in the statement of comprehensive income 2.8

Statement of changes in equity

Current tax on share options exercised 0.6
Deferred tax on share options granted to employees 1.0
Total tax credit in the statement of changes in equity 1.6
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10. Taxation continued

b)	 Reconciliation of the total tax charge
The tax expense in the consolidated income statement is higher (2012: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 
23.5% (2012: 25%). The differences are reconciled below:

2013

Before 
exceptional

 & other items
£m

Exceptional & 
other items

£m
Total

£m

Profit / (loss) before tax 108.1 (25.5) 82.6

Profit / (loss) multiplied by the UK average rate of corporation tax of 23.5% (25.4) 6.0 (19.4)

Permanent differences 0.4 (0.6) (0.2)

Impact of change in UK tax rate on deferred tax liability 3.0 0.2 3.2

Tax underprovided in previous years (1.1) (0.1) (1.2)

Overseas tax rates (2.4) (0.7) (3.1)
(25.5) 4.8 (20.7)

Effective income tax rate 23.6% 25.0%

2012

Before 
exceptional

 & other items
£m

Exceptional & 
other items

£m
Total

£m

Profit / (loss) before tax 84.4 (6.9) 77.5

Profit / (loss) multiplied by the UK average rate of corporation tax of 25% (21.1) 1.7 (19.4)
Permanent differences 1.2 (0.6) 0.6
Impact of change in UK tax rate on deferred tax liability 2.0 0.2 2.2
Tax underprovided in previous years (1.7) (0.3) (2.0)
Overseas tax rates (1.9) 0.4 (1.5)

(21.5) 1.4 (20.1)
Effective income tax rate 25.5% 25.9%

c)		 Unrecognised tax items
The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which a deferred tax liability has not been recognised total 
£5.6m (2012: £3.8m). No deferred tax has been provided in respect of these differences, since the timing of the reversals can be 
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the future.

The group expects that future remittances of earnings from its overseas subsidiaries will be covered by the UK dividend exemption and 
so the un-remitted earnings of these subsidiaries are not disclosed above.

A deferred tax asset of £0.4m (2012: £nil) has not been recognised in respect of tax losses.

d)	 Impact of rate change
Finance Act 2013 enacted reductions in the UK corporation tax rate from 23% to 21% from 1 April 2014 and to 20% from 1 April 2015. 
The effect of the new rate is to reduce the deferred tax provision by a net £2.1m, comprising a credit of £3.2m to the income statement 
and a charge of £1.1m to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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10. Taxation continued

e)	 Deferred tax
The deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Deferred tax liability
	 Accelerated capital allowances (6.8) (9.8)
	 Acquisition fair value adjustments (17.6) (17.8)
	 Other temporary differences (0.1) (0.1)
	 Post employment benefits (13.5) (19.5)
Deferred tax liability (38.0) (47.2)

Deferred tax asset
	 Employee incentive plan 3.7 3.6
	 Unutilised losses incurred in overseas jurisdictions 5.1 4.4
	 Other temporary differences 1.4 5.1
Deferred tax asset 10.2 13.1

Net deferred tax liability (27.8) (34.1)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for 
financial reporting purposes:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Net deferred tax assets - -
Net deferred tax liabilities (27.8) (34.1)

(27.8) (34.1)

The deferred tax included in the consolidated income statement is as follows:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Employee incentive plan 0.4 (1.1)
Accelerated capital allowances 3.0 7.8
Post employment benefits 1.5 (19.0)
Acquisition fair value adjustments 1.3 0.9
Unutilised losses incurred in overseas jurisdictions 0.7 3.1
Other temporary differences (4.1) 0.4
Deferred tax credit/(charge) 2.8 (7.9)

In 2013, £2.6m credit of the group’s overall deferred tax credit relates to exceptional items (2012: £1.5m charge).
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11. Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit / (loss) for the period attributable to the equity shareholders of 
the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the ordinary equity shareholders of the parent 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following table reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Basic earnings per share 

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders 61.9 57.4
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic earnings per share 243.2 241.6

Basic earnings per share 25.5p 23.8p

Diluted earnings per share 

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders 61.9 57.4
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for diluted earnings per share 244.7 256.6

Diluted earnings per share 25.3p 22.4p

The group presents as exceptional and other items on the face of the consolidated income statement, those significant items of income 
and expense which, because of the size, nature and infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit separate presentation to allow 
shareholders to understand better the elements of financial performance in the period, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods 
and to assess trends in financial performance more readily.

To this end, basic and diluted earnings per share are also presented on this basis with the amortisation of acquisition related intangible 
assets also added back using the weighted average number of ordinary shares for both basic and diluted amounts as per the table below.

The group modifies adjusted diluted earnings per share to exclude the impact of share options that have been granted but not yet vested, 
if applicable.

Note
2013

£m
2012

£m

Adjusted basic earnings per share 

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders 61.9 57.4
Add: Net impact of exceptional and other items 20.7 5.5
Add: Intangible assets amortisation (acquisition related) 14 2.9 2.9

85.5 65.8
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic earnings per share 243.2 241.6

Adjusted basic earnings per share 35.2p 27.2p

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders before exceptional items and 
other items and acquisition related intangible assets amortisation

85.5 65.8

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for diluted earnings per share 244.7 248.8

Adjusted diluted earnings per share 34.9p 26.5p
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12. Dividends paid and proposed

2013
£m

2012
£m

Declared and paid during the period
Equity dividends on ordinary shares
	 Final dividend for 2012: 12.4p per share (2011: 12.6p per share) 29.6 29.9
	 Interim dividend for 2013: 5.4p per share (2012: 5.3p per share) 12.9 12.6
Dividends paid 42.5 42.5
Proposed 
	 Final dividend for 2013: 13.0p per share (2012: 12.4p per share) 31.7 30.1

13. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold  
land and 
buildings

£m

Leasehold  
land and 
buildings

£m

Plant and 
machinery

£m

Fixtures, 
fittings,

 tools and 
equipment

£m
Total

£m

At 2 October 2011, net of accumulated depreciation 
and impairment 59.9 28.7 105.1 50.1 243.8
Exchange differences (1.4) (0.6) (2.9) (0.1) (5.0)
Additions 3.5 0.4 20.2 15.5 39.6
Disposals at cost (0.9) - (12.1) (7.5) (20.5)
Depreciation eliminated on disposals 0.1 - 11.0 6.3 17.4
Depreciation charge for the year (2.1) (0.7) (19.6) (12.0) (34.4)
Impairment - - - (4.3) (4.3)
At 30 September 2012, net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 59.1 27.8 101.7 48.0 236.6
Exchange differences 1.0 0.4 1.8 - 3.2
Additions 3.8 2.5 15.2 6.3 27.8
Disposals at cost (0.1) - (3.5) (12.4) (16.0)
Depreciation eliminated on disposals 0.1 - 1.9 9.9 11.9
Depreciation charge for the year (2.4) (0.9) (20.3) (13.0) (36.6)
Impairment * - (0.8) (10.4) - (11.2)
At 29 September 2013 net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 61.5 29.0 86.4 38.8 215.7

At 29 September 2013
Cost (gross carrying amount) 83.9 43.1 272.9 162.6 562.5
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (22.4) (14.1) (186.5) (123.8) (346.8)
Net carrying amount 61.5 29.0 86.4 38.8 215.7

At 30 September 2012
Cost (gross carrying amount) 77.9 39.9 255.1 166.6 539.5
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (18.8) (12.1) (153.4) (118.6) (302.9)
Net carrying amount 59.1 27.8 101.7 48.0 236.6

* 	The impairment in 2013 principally relates to the write down of plant and machinery following the strategic cost initiative announcement in May 2013, and has been 
included within exceptional and other items (see note 5).

Finance leases
The net book value of freehold land and buildings and plant and machinery includes £0.2m and £0.1m respectively (2012: £0.2m and 
£0.3m respectively) in respect of assets held under finance leases. The assets are pledged as security for the finance lease liabilities.
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14. Intangible assets

Trademarks
£m 

Franchise 
rights

£m

Customer  
lists
£m

Software  
costs

£m
Goodwill

£m
Total

£m

Cost as at 2 October 2011, net of 
accumulated amortisation 99.9 22.6 40.3 32.3 142.8 337.9
Exchange differences (7.4) (1.6) (2.9) (0.2) (5.9) (18.0)
Additions - - - 5.4 - 5.4
Amortisation charge for the period - (0.7)* (2.2)* (6.6) - (9.5)
Impairment - - - (10.6) - (10.6)
Cost as at 30 September 2012, net of 
accumulated amortisation 92.5 20.3 35.2 20.3 136.9 305.2
Exchange differences 5.0 1.0 1.8 - 3.9 11.7
Additions - - - 8.9 - 8.9
Amortisation charge for the period - (0.7)* (2.2)* (4.2) - (7.1)
Impairment** - - - - (1.7) (1.7)
At 29 September 2013 97.5 20.6 34.8 25.0 139.1 317.0

At 29 September 2013
Cost (gross carrying amount) 126.6 24.8 49.7 65.5 205.6 472.2
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment (29.1) (4.2) (14.9) (40.5) (66.5) (155.2)
Net carrying amount 97.5 20.6 34.8 25.0 139.1 317.0

At 30 September 2012
Cost (gross carrying amount) 120.1 23.6 47.2 56.0 198.9 445.8
Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment (27.6) (3.3) (12.0) (35.7) (62.0) (140.6)
Net carrying amount 92.5 20.3 35.2 20.3 136.9 305.2

* Acquisition related amortisation (see note 11).

** The impairment in 2013 relates to the write down of goodwill relating to the Water business following the strategic cost initiative announcement in May 2013, and 
has been included within exceptional and other items (see note 5).

Trademarks
Britvic Ireland and Britvic France
Trademarks represent those trade names acquired which the group plans to maintain. All trademarks have been allocated an indefinite life 
by management. A list of the trademarks held in respect of the Britvic Ireland and Britvic France segments is shown in note 15.

It is expected, and in line with existing well-established trademarks within the group, that the trademarks with indefinite lives in respect 
of Britvic France and Britvic Ireland will be held and supported for an indefinite period of time and are expected to generate economic 
benefits. The group is committed to supporting its trademarks and invests in significant consumer marketing promotional spend.

Franchise rights 
Franchise rights represent the franchise agreements acquired as part of the Britvic Ireland business combination which provide the long 
term right to distribute certain soft drinks. These agreements have been allocated a 35 year useful economic life. As at 29 September 
2013 these intangible assets have a remaining useful life of 29 years. The franchise agreement itself has a contract life less than the 
useful economic life. The useful economic life has been determined on the basis that the renewal of the contract is highly probable.

Customer lists
Britvic France
Customer lists recognised on the acquisition of Britvic France relate to those customer relationships acquired. These intangible assets 
have been allocated useful economic lives of 20 years. At 29 September 2013 these intangible assets have a remaining useful life of 17 
years.

Britvic Ireland
Customer lists represent those customer relationships acquired which are valued in respect of the grocery and wholesale businesses. 
These customer lists have been allocated useful economic lives of between 10 and 20 years. At 29 September 2013 these intangible 
assets have a remaining useful life of between 4 and 14 years. 

Software costs
Software is capitalised at cost. These intangible assets have been assessed as having finite lives and are amortised using the straight-line 
method over a period of 3 to 7 years. As at 29 September 2013 these intangible assets have a remaining useful life of up to 7 years.

Goodwill
Goodwill is subject to an impairment review at each reporting date in accordance with IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’. Further detail is 
provided in note 15.

Intangible assets recognised on the acquisition of Britvic Ireland and Britvic France are valued in euros and translated to sterling at the 
reporting date.
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15. Impairment testing of intangible assets

Carrying amount of goodwill and trademarks with indefinite lives
The carrying amount of goodwill acquired through business combinations, and trademarks with indefinite lives recognised as part of fair 
value exercises on acquisitions, are attributable to the following cash-generating units:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Goodwill

	 Orchid 6.0 6.0
	 Tango 8.9 8.9
	 Robinsons 38.6 38.6
	 Britvic Soft Drinks business (BSD) 7.8 7.8
	 Water business - 1.7
	 Britvic Ireland 16.6 15.8
	 Britvic France 61.2 58.1

139.1 136.9

2013
£m

2012
£m

Trademarks with indefinite lives
	 Britvic Ireland

		  Britvic 6.3 6.0
		  Cidona 5.5 5.3
		  Mi Wadi 8.6 8.1
		  Ballygowan 2.4 2.2
		  Club 14.2 13.5

37.0 35.1
	 Britvic France

		  Teisseire 47.9 45.4
		  Moulin de Valdonne 3.9 3.7
		  Pressade 4.5 4.3
		  Fruité 4.2 4.0

60.5 57.4
Total Trademarks 97.5 92.5

The Britvic Ireland and Britvic France goodwill and trademarks with indefinite lives are valued in euros and translated into sterling at the 
reporting date. The movements in the carrying amount of goodwill from the prior year relate to translation movements and the 
impairment of goodwill related to the Water business.

With the exception of Britvic Ireland and Britvic France goodwill, all other goodwill amounts were recognised on acquisitions made within 
Britvic GB.

Trademarks with indefinite lives were recognised as part of the fair value exercises relating to the 2007 acquisition of Britvic Ireland and 
the 2010 acquisition of Britvic France. They were allocated by senior management to the individual cash-generating units for impairment 
testing as shown in the table above.

Method of impairment testing
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives
Impairment reviews of goodwill and intangible assets are undertaken by senior management annually. Value in use calculations are 
performed for each cash-generating unit using cash flow projections and are based on the latest financial budgets prepared by senior 
management and approved by the board of directors. Senior management expectations are formed in line with performance to date and 
experience, as well as available external market data.

The group has considered the impact of the current economic climate in determining the appropriate discount rate to use in impairment 
testing. The applicable pre-tax discount rate for cash flow projections is:

At 29 September 2013 At 30 September 2012

Britvic GB 8% 11%
Britvic Ireland 10% 11%
Britvic France 10% 12%

Cash flows beyond a one year period are extrapolated based on growth and discount rates as described on page 86. 
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15. Impairment testing of intangible assets continued

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations
The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing 
of goodwill.

Volume growth rates – reflect senior management expectations of volume growth based on growth achieved to date, current strategy 
and expected market trends.

Discount rates – reflect senior management’s estimate of the pre-tax cost of capital adjusted where necessary to reflect the different 
risks of different countries in which the group operates. The estimated pre-tax cost of capital is the benchmark used by management to 
assess operating performance and to evaluate future capital investment proposals.

Marginal contribution – being revenue less material costs and all other marginal costs that management considers to be directly 
attributable to the sale of a given product. Marginal contribution is based on financial budgets approved by the Britvic plc board. Key 
assumptions are made within these budgets about pricing, discounts and costs based on historical data, current strategy and expected 
market trends.

Advertising and promotional spend – financial budgets approved by senior management are used to determine the value assigned to 
advertising and promotional spend. This is based on the planned spend for year one and strategic intent thereafter.

Raw materials price, production and distribution costs, selling costs and other overhead inflation – the basis used to determine the value 
assigned to inflation is the forecast increase in consumer price indices in the relevant market. This has been used in all value in use 
calculations performed.

Intangible assets with finite lives
No indicators of impairment were identified on intangible assets with finite lives and no impairment was recognised against these assets.

Results and conclusions
Following the strategic cost initiative announcement in May 2013, the carrying value of goodwill relating to the Water business of £1.7m 
has been impaired, and the impairment charge recognised within exceptional and other items (see note 5). 

The directors do not consider that a reasonably possible change in the assumptions used to calculate the value in use of remaining 
goodwill and intangible assets would result in any impairment.

16. Other receivables (non-current)

2013
£m

2012
£m

Operating lease premiums 1.8 2.3
Prepayments 1.5 1.3
Other 0.5 -
Total other receivables (non-current) 3.8 3.6

Operating lease premiums relates to the un-amortised element of lease premiums paid on inception of operating leases.

17. Inventories

2013
£m

2012
£m

Raw materials 27.1 22.2
Finished goods 54.9 42.5
Consumable stores 7.0 7.2
Returnable packaging 1.8 1.9
Total inventories at lower of cost and net realisable value 90.8 73.8

88 Britvic plc Annual Report 2013



notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

18. Trade and other receivables (current) 	

2013
£m

2012
£m

Trade receivables 236.4 207.7
Other receivables 10.1 19.7
Prepayments 19.6 30.0

266.1 257.4

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on credit terms usual for the markets in which the group operates. As at 29 
September 2013, trade receivables at nominal value of £1.6m (2012: £2.5m) were impaired and fully provided against. Movements in the 
provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

Total
£m

At 2 October 2011 1.2
Charge for period 1.9
Utilised (0.5)
Unused amounts reversed (0.1)
At 30 September 2012  2.5
Charge for period 2.5

Utilised (1.9)

Unused amounts reversed (1.5)
At 29 September 2013 1.6

The group takes the following factors into account when considering whether a provision for impairment should be made for trade 
receivables:

•	Payment performance history; and 

•	External information available regarding credit ratings.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Past due but not impaired

Total
£m

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired
£m

<30 days
£m

30 – 60 days
£m

60 – 90 days
£m

90 – 120 days
£m

> 120 days
£m

2013 236.4 218.1 7.3 4.1 0.9 1.2 4.8
2012 207.7 196.5 6.7 0.3 2.0 0.5 1.7

The credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is considered good. Refer to note 24 for details of the group’s 
credit risk policy. The group monitors the credit quality of trade receivables by reference to credit ratings available externally.
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19. Cash and cash equivalents	

2013
£m

2012
£m

Cash at bank and in hand 94.0 49.5
Cash and cash equivalents 94.0 49.5

Bank overdrafts (2.5) (1.9)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 91.5 47.6

During the year, short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and one month depending on the immediate cash 
requirements of the group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is 
equal to the book value.

At 29 September 2013 the group had available £400.0m (2012: £400.0m) of un-drawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which 
all conditions precedent had been met.

Where available, the group operates cash pooling arrangements whereby the net cash position across a number of accounts is 
recognised for interest purposes.

20. Issued share capital

The issued share capital is wholly comprised of ordinary shares carrying one voting right each. The nominal value of each ordinary share is 
£0.20. There are no restrictions placed on the distribution of dividends, or the return of capital on a winding up or otherwise.

Issued, called up and fully paid ordinary shares 
No. of  
shares

Value
£

At 2 October 2011 241,400,052 48,280,010
Shares issued 944,499 188,900
At 30 September 2012 242,344,551 48,468,910
Shares issued 2,746,477 549,295
At 29 September 2013 245,091,028 49,018,205 

Of the issued and fully paid ordinary shares, 231,547 shares (2012: 217,994 shares) are own shares held by an employee benefit trust. 
This equates to £46,309 (2012: £43,599) at £0.20 par value of each ordinary share. These shares are held for the purpose of satisfying the 
share schemes detailed in note 28.

An explanation of the group’s capital management process and objectives is set out in note 24.

21. Interest bearing loans and borrowings

2013
£m

2012
£m

Current

Finance leases (0.2) (0.3)
Bank loans (0.2) (0.3)
Private placement notes (92.1) -
Less: unamortised issue costs 0.9 -
Total current (91.6) (0.6)

2013
£m

2012
£m

Non-current

Finance leases (0.3) (0.5)
Bank loans (0.8) (1.1)
Private placement notes (459.1) (560.8)
Less: unamortised issue costs 1.9 3.7
Total non-current (458.3) (558.7)

Total interest bearing loans and borrowings (549.9) (559.3)
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21. Interest bearing loans and borrowings continued

The table below provides an analysis of amounts included within current and non-current interest bearing loans and borrowings:

 
2013

£m
2012

£m

Finance leases (0.5) (0.8)
2007 Notes (270.3) (269.9)
2009 Notes (164.8) (171.8)
2010 Notes (112.2) (114.5)
Accrued interest (3.9) (4.6)
Bank loans (1.0) (1.4)
Capitalised issue costs 2.8 3.7

(549.9) (559.3)

Analysis of changes in interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2013
£m

2012
£m

At the beginning of the period (559.3) (573.2)
Net loans repaid 0.6 0.7
Repayment of finance leases 0.4 0.3
Amortisation and write off of issue costs (0.9) (0.9)
Net translation gain / fair value adjustment 8.6 13.5
Accrued interest 0.7 0.3
At the end of the period (549.9) (559.3)
Derivatives hedging balance sheet debt* 56.1 65.0
Debt translated at contracted rate (493.8) (494.3)

* �Represents the element of the fair value of interest rate currency swaps hedging the balance sheet value of the private placement notes. This amount has been 
disclosed separately to demonstrate the impact of foreign exchange movements which are included in interest bearing loans and borrowings. 

Bank loans
The bank loans classified as non-current are repayable by December 2018 (2012: December 2018).

Loans outstanding at 29 September 2013 attract interest at an average rate of 4.03% for euro denominated loans (2012: 4.16%). There 
were no sterling denominated bank loans outstanding at 29 September 2013 (2012: £nil). 

Private placement notes
2007 Notes
On 20 February 2007, Britvic plc issued US$375m and £38m of Senior Notes (‘the 2007 Notes’) in the United States Private Placement 
market (USPP). The amount, maturity and interest terms of the Notes are shown in the table below:

Series Tranche Maturity date Amount Interest terms Swap interest

A 7 year 20 February 2014 US$87m US$ fixed at 5.80% UK£ fixed at 6.10%
B 7 year 20 February 2014 US$15m US$ LIBOR + 0.5% UK£ fixed at 6.07%
C 7 year 20 February 2014 £25m UK£ fixed at 6.11% n/a
D 10 year 20 February 2017 US$147m US$ fixed at 5.90% UK£ fixed at 5.98%
E 12 year 20 February 2019 US$126m US$ fixed at 6.00% UK£ fixed at 5.98%
F 12 year 20 February 2019 £13m UK£ fixed at 5.94% n/a

Britvic plc makes quarterly or semi-annual interest payments in US dollars and sterling under these notes. The 2007 Notes are unsecured 
and rank pari passu in right of repayment with other senior unsecured indebtedness of the company. In order to manage the risk of 
foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations, the group has entered into currency interest rate swaps whereby fixed / floating US dollar 
interest is swapped for fixed sterling interest. The swap contracts have the same duration and other critical terms as the borrowings 
which they hedge and are designated as part of effective hedge relationships (see note 25).

2009 Notes
On 17 December 2009, Britvic plc issued US$250.0m of Senior Notes in the United States Private Placement market (‘the 2009 Notes’). 
The 2009 Notes are additional borrowings to the 2007 Notes.

Britvic plc makes semi-annual interest payments in US dollars under these notes. The 2009 Notes are unsecured and rank pari passu in 
right of repayment with other senior unsecured indebtedness of the group.

In order to manage foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and to ensure an appropriate mix of sterling and euro funding, the group has 
entered into a number of cross currency interest rate swaps. The 2009 Notes were swapped into floating rate sterling and euro liabilities 
through a series of US dollar to sterling and, with the exception of series A, sterling to euro swap instruments. These cross currency 
interest rate swap contracts have the same duration and other critical terms as the relevant borrowings they hedge and are designated as 
part of effective hedge relationships (see note 25).
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21. Interest bearing loans and borrowings continued

The amount, maturity and interest terms of the 2009 Notes are shown in the table below:

Series Tranche Maturity date Amount Interest terms Swap terms

A 5 year 17 December 2014 US$30m US$ fixed at 4.07% UK£ LIBOR + 1.44%
B 7 year 17 December 2016 US$75m US$ fixed at 4.77% EURIBOR + 1.69%
C 8 year 17 December 2017 US$25m US$ fixed at 4.94% EURIBOR + 1.70%
D 10 year 17 December 2019 US$120m US$ fixed at 5.24% EURIBOR + 1.75%

The 2009 USPP cross currency swaps converted an amount of US dollar borrowings into a floating rate euro liability. To mitigate exposure 
to changes in euro interest rates on a portion of this liability, €75.0m of interest rate swaps were transacted into a fixed rate euro liability 
with an effective date of December 2010. These interest rate swaps do not form part of an effective hedge relationship.

2010 Notes
On 17 December 2010, Britvic plc issued US$163m and £7.5m of Senior Notes in the United States Private Placement market (‘the 2010 
Notes’). The 2010 Notes are additional borrowings to the 2007 and 2009 Notes.

Britvic plc makes semi-annual interest payments in US dollars and sterling under these notes. The 2010 Notes are unsecured and rank 
pari passu in right of repayment with other senior unsecured indebtedness of the group.

In order to manage foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and to ensure an appropriate mix of sterling and euro funding, the group has 
entered into a number of cross currency interest rate swaps. The 2010 Notes were swapped into a mix of fixed and floating rate sterling 
and fixed euro liabilities through a series of US dollar to sterling and sterling to euro swap instruments. These cross currency interest rate 
swap contracts have the same duration and other critical terms as the relevant borrowings they hedge and are designated as part of 
effective hedge relationships (see note 25).

The amount, maturity and interest terms of the 2010 Notes are shown in the table below:

Series Tranche Maturity date Amount Interest terms Swap terms

A 7 year 17 December 2017 £7.5m UK£ fixed at 3.74% N/A
B 7 year 17 December 2017 US$25m US$ fixed at 3.45% UK£ fixed 3.85%

US$25m US$ fixed at 3.45% € fixed 3.34%
C 10 year 17 December 2020 US$37m US$ fixed at 4.04% UK£ LIBOR +1.24%

US$23m US$ fixed at 4.04% € fixed 3.85%
US$10m US$ fixed at 4.04% UK£ fixed 4.49%

D 12 year 17 December 2022 US$18m US$ fixed at 4.14% UK£ LIBOR +1.18%
US$25m US$ fixed at 4.14% € fixed 3.97%

The 2010 USPP cross currency swaps converted an amount of US dollar borrowings into a floating rate sterling liability. To mitigate 
exposure to interest rates on a portion of this liability, £20.0m of 2-year interest rate swaps were transacted with an effective date of 
December 2011. These interest rate swaps do not form part of an effective hedge relationship.

2014 Notes
In November 2013, the group reached agreement with a number of investors in the US private placement market to raise an additional 
$170.4m equivalent of funding for terms of between 7 and 12 years. This funding is subject to documentation and due diligence which is 
scheduled to be completed in December 2013. Where this funding is dollar-denominated this has been hedged using cross-currency 
interest-rate swaps to meet the group’s desired funding profile and to manage the associated foreign currency risk to the profit and loss 
account.

22. Pensions 

The group’s principal pension scheme for GB employees, the Britvic Pension Plan (BPP) has both a defined benefit and contribution 
section. The defined benefit section was closed to new members from 1 August 2002 and closed to future accrual for active members 
from 1 April 2011, with new members moving to the defined contribution section for future service benefits.

Contributions are paid to the Plan as determined by the Trustee, agreed by the company and certified by an independent actuary in the 
Schedule of Contributions. The latest formal actuarial valuation for contribution purposes was carried out as at 31 March 2010. The 31 
March 2013 valuation is currently underway and is expected to be completed by 30 June 2014. Changes to the contributions payable 
could result.

The BPP is a limited partner of Britvic Scottish Limited Partnership (Britvic SLP), which in turn is a limited partner in both Britvic Property 
Partnership (Britvic PP) and Britvic Brands LLP (Britvic Brands). Britvic SLP, Britvic PP and Britvic Brands are all consolidated by the group. 
The investment held by BPP does not represent a plan asset for accounting purposes and is therefore not included in the fair value of the 
plan assets.

Properties were transferred to Britvic PP at a value of £28.6m and certain group brands to the value of £72.4m were transferred to Britvic 
Brands, all of which are leased back to Britvic Soft Drinks Limited. The group retains operational flexibility over the properties and brands 
including the ability to substitute the properties and brands held by Britvic PP and Britvic Brands respectively.
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22. Pensions continued

The BPP is entitled to a share of the profits in Britvic SLP for the next 13 years. At the end of this period, the partnership capital allocated 
to the BPP will be changed to an amount equal to any funding deficit of the BPP at this time, up to a maximum of £105m.

In addition to the expected partnership income of at least £5m per annum, the group will make payments to the BPP of £15m per annum 
by 31 December each year, from 2013 to 2017. During this year £12.5m of additional contributions were paid to the BPP, of which £7.5m 
was paid by the group and £5.0m relates to income received from the pension funding partnership structure. 

The amount recognised as an expense in relation to the BPP defined contribution scheme in the consolidated income statement for 2013 
was £10.6m (2012: £10.5m).

Britvic’s business in GB also has a secured unfunded unregistered retirement benefit scheme called The Britvic Executive Top Up Scheme 
(BETUS) which provides benefits for members who have historically exceeded the Earnings Cap, or the Lifetime Allowance whilst 
members of the defined benefit section of the BPP. BETUS closed to future accrual on 10 April 2011 which coincided with the closure of 
the defined benefit section of the BPP. 

The Britvic Northern Ireland Pension Plan (BNIPP) was closed to new members on 28 February 2006, and since this date new employees 
have been eligible to join a Stakeholder plan with Legal & General. The latest formal actuarial valuation for contribution purposes was 
carried out as at 31 December 2011.

In relation to the Britvic Ireland Pension Plan (BIPP), following the changes made in 2012 no deficit recovery contributions are currently 
required. The next valuation is due as at 1 January 2015. The Trustee has been undertaking investment de-risking to protect the on-going 
funding position achieved as a result of the 2012 changes.

The amount recognised as an expense in relation to the Irish defined contribution schemes in the consolidated income statement for 
2013 was £0.8m (2012: £0.3m).

All group pension schemes are administered by trustees who are independent of the group’s finances. 

The assets and liabilities of the pension schemes were valued on an IAS 19 basis at 29 September 2013 by Towers Watson (BPP), Invesco 
(BIPP) and Buck (BNIPP).

Included within the pension liability on the consolidated balance sheet is an accrual of £2.1m (2012: £1.8m) in respect of Britvic France. 
The liability represents an unfunded pension obligation made up of two components being retirement indemnities of £1.9m (2012: £1.6m) 
and long-service cash payments due on retirement of £0.2m (2012: £0.2m).

Principal assumptions 
Financial assumptions

2013
%

ROI

2013
%
NI

2013
%

GB

2012
%

ROI

2012
%
NI

2012
%

GB

Discount rate 4.25 4.60 4.55 4.20 4.70 4.85
Rate of compensation increase 3.00 3.75 n/a 3.00 3.60 n/a
Expected long term return on plan assets 4.25 5.21 4.84 4.85 5.21 5.61
Pension increases - 1.95-2.45 1.95-3.05 - 1.65-2.05 1.80-2.75
Inflation assumption 2.00 2.45 3.35 2.00 2.00 2.90

To develop the expected long term rate of return on assets assumption, the group considered the level of expected returns on risk free 
investments (primarily government bonds), the historical level of the risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the 
portfolio is invested and the expectations for future returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class was then 
weighted based on the target asset allocation to develop the expected long term rate on assets assumption for the portfolio.

Demographic assumptions
The most significant non-financial assumption is the assumed rate of longevity. This is based on standard actuarial tables, which for the 
BPP are known as SAPS Series 1. The following life expectancy assumptions have been used:

2013
Years

ROI

2013
Years

NI

2013
Years

GB

2012
Years

ROI

2012
Years

NI

2012
Years

GB

Current pensioners (at age 65) – males 22.7 22.0 22.2 23.1 21.0 22.1
Current pensioners (at age 65) – females 24.5 25.0 24.8 24.7 23.8 24.7
Future pensioners currently aged 45 
(at age 65) – males 25.6 23.3 24.4 25.8 22.8 24.3
Future pensioners currently aged 45 
(at age 65) – females 26.8 26.6 27.1 26.9 25.3 27.0
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22. Pensions continued

Sensitivities
Changes in assumptions used for determining retirement benefit costs and obligations may have a material impact on the consolidated 
income statement and balance sheet. The main assumptions are the discount rate, the rate of inflation and the assumed mortality rate. 
The following table provides an estimate of the potential impact of each of these variables on the principal pension plans.

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on ROI plan liabilities Impact on NI plan liabilities Impact on GB plan liabilities

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 0.1% Decrease/increase by £1.2m Decrease/increase by £0.5m Decrease/increase by £11.0m

Inflation rate Increase/decrease by 0.1% Increase/decrease by £0.6m Increase/decrease by £0.3m Increase/decrease by £8.4m

Mortality rate Increase/decrease in life 
expectancy by one year

Increase/decrease by £0.8m Increase/decrease by £0.8m Increase/decrease by £16.3m

Net benefit income/(expense)

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2013
Total

£m

Current service cost (0.8) (0.2) - (1.0)

Interest cost on benefit obligation (2.4) (1.2) (24.0) (27.6)

Expected return on plan assets 2.4 1.2 23.9 27.5

Settlement gain - - 3.8 3.8

Net income / (expense) (0.8) (0.2) 3.7 2.7

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2012
Total

£m

Current service cost (0.9) (0.2) - (1.1)
Interest cost on benefit obligation (3.4) (1.3) (26.5) (31.2)
Expected return on plan assets 2.5 1.2 25.9 29.6
Curtailment gain 21.3 - - 21.3
Net income / (expense) 19.5 (0.3) (0.6) 18.6

The net income detailed above is recognised in arriving at net profit from continuing operations before tax and finance costs / income, 
and is included within cost of sales, selling and distribution costs and administration expenses.

The settlement gain in 2013 has been recognised due to the arrangement reached with the former chief executive upon his retirement 
relating to his benefits under BETUS. The gain realised on the extinguishment of this liability has been recognised in exceptional and other 
items in the income statement.

The ROI curtailment gain in 2012 was recognised under IAS19 Employee Benefits arising from the removal of the guaranteed pension 
indexation.

Taken to the statement of comprehensive income

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2013
Total

£m

Actual return on scheme assets 3.5 2.2 39.9 45.6

Less: Expected return on scheme assets (2.4) (1.2) (23.9) (27.5)
1.1 1.0 16.0 18.1

Other actuarial gains/ (losses) 4.1 0.8 (55.4) (50.5)

Actuarial gains/(losses) taken to the statement of comprehensive income 5.2 1.8 (39.4) (32.4)

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2012
Total

£m

Actual return on scheme assets 6.4 2.4 55.6 64.4
Less: Expected return on scheme assets (2.5) (1.2) (25.9) (29.6)

3.9 1.2 29.7 34.8
Other actuarial losses (12.3) (0.4) (12.9) (25.6)
Actuarial (losses)/gains taken to the statement of comprehensive income (8.4) 0.8 16.8 9.2
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22. Pensions continued

Net (liability)/asset

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2013
Total

£m

Present value of benefit obligation (54.8) (26.6) (562.4) (643.8)

Fair value of plan assets 53.2 26.7 546.7 626.6

Net (liability)/asset (1.6) 0.1 (15.7) (17.2)

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2012
Total

£m

Present value of benefit obligation (53.6) (26.8) (503.9) (584.3)
Fair value of plan assets 47.2 23.8 511.4 582.4
Net (liability)/asset (6.4) (3.0) 7.5 (1.9)

Movements in the present value of benefit obligation are as follows:

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2013
Total

£m

At 30 September 2012 (53.6) (26.8) (503.9) (584.3)

Exchange differences (3.0) - - (3.0)

Settlement gain - - 3.8 3.8

Current service cost (0.8) (0.2) - (1.0)

Member contributions (0.3) - - (0.3)

Interest cost on benefit obligation (2.4) (1.2) (24.0) (27.6)

Benefits paid 1.2 0.8 17.1 19.1

Actuarial gains/(losses) 4.1 0.8 (55.4) (50.5)

At 29 September 2013 (54.8) (26.6) (562.4) (643.8)

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2012
Total

£m

At 2 October 2011 (64.4) (25.4) (481.2) (571.0)
Exchange differences 4.7 - - 4.7
Curtailment gain 21.3 - - 21.3
Current service cost (0.9) (0.2) - (1.1)
Member contributions (0.4) - - (0.4)
Interest cost on benefit obligation (3.4) (1.3) (26.5) (31.2)
Benefits paid 1.8 0.5 16.7 19.0
Actuarial losses (12.3) (0.4) (12.9) (25.6)
At 30 September 2012 (53.6) (26.8) (503.9) (584.3)
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22. Pensions continued

Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2013
Total

£m

At 30 September 2012 47.2 23.8 511.4 582.4

Exchange differences 2.6 - - 2.6

Expected return on plan assets 2.4 1.2 23.9 27.5

Actuarial gains 1.1 1.0 16.0 18.1

Employer contributions 0.8 1.5 12.5 14.8

Member contributions 0.3 - - 0.3

Benefits paid (1.2) (0.8) (17.1) (19.1)

At 29 September 2013 53.2 26.7 546.7 626.6

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2012
Total

£m

At 2 October 2011 44.5 20.3 462.5 527.3
Exchange differences (3.6) - - (3.6)
Expected return on plan assets 2.5 1.2 25.9 29.6
Actuarial gains 3.9 1.2 29.7 34.8
Employer contributions 1.3 1.6 10.0 12.9
Member contributions 0.4 - - 0.4
Benefits paid (1.8) (0.5) (16.7) (19.0)
At 30 September 2012 47.2 23.8 511.4 582.4

Categories of scheme assets as a percentage of the fair value of total scheme assets

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2013
Total

£m

2013
Total

%

Equities 30.7 13.8 225.3 269.8 43

Bonds and gilts 21.9 12.6 310.7 345.2 55

Properties 0.6 - 7.6 8.2 1

Cash - 0.3 3.1 3.4 1

Total 53.2 26.7 546.7 626.6 100

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2012
Total

£m

2012
Total

%

Equities 24.7 11.7 249.8 286.2 49
Bonds and gilts 18.8 11.9 236.6 267.3 46
Properties 3.7 - 21.7 25.4 4
Cash - 0.2 3.3 3.5 1
Total 47.2 23.8 511.4 582.4 100

Analysis of expected return on assets by categories of scheme assets

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2013
Total

£m

2013
Total

%

Equities & real estate 2.0 0.9 16.3 19.2 70

Bonds and gilts 0.4 0.3 7.5 8.2 30

Cash 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0

Total 2.4 1.2 23.9 27.5 100

ROI
£m

NI
£m

GB
£m

2012
Total

£m

2012
Total

%

Equities & real estate 2.0 0.8 16.5 19.3 65
Bonds and gilts 0.5 0.3 9.2 10.0 34
Cash - 0.1 0.2 0.3 1
Total 2.5 1.2 25.9 29.6 100
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22. Pensions continued

History of experience gains and losses

2013
£m

2012
£m

2011
£m

2010
£m

2009
£m

Fair value of schemes assets 626.6 582.4 527.3 523.8 461.9
Present value of defined benefit obligations (643.8) (584.3) (571.0) (641.0) (547.0)
Deficit in the schemes (17.2) (1.9) (43.7) (117.2) (85.1)
Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities 6.1 - 1.5 36.7 2.0
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets 18.3 (34.8) (26.7) 27.2 (2.7)

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised since 4 October 2004 in the group statement of comprehensive income 
is an overall loss of £81.6m (2012: loss of £49.2m). The directors are unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficit 
recognised on transition to IFRS and taken direct to equity of £1.3m is attributable to actuarial gains and losses since the inception of 
those pension schemes. Consequently, the directors are unable to determine the amount of actuarial gains and losses that would have 
been recognised in the group statement of comprehensive income before 4 October 2004.

Normal contributions of £1.0m are expected to be paid into the defined benefit pension schemes during the 2014 financial year. Additional 
contributions of £21.5m are expected to be paid into the defined benefit pension schemes during the 2014 financial year, of which £16.5m 
is expected to be paid by the group and £5.0m by the partnership.

23. Trade and other payables (current) 

2013
£m

2012
£m

Trade payables 237.1 230.9
Other payables 4.9 8.5
Accruals and deferred income 99.2 92.2
Other taxes and social security 40.3 25.6

381.5 357.2

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 60 - 90 day terms.

24. Financial risk management objectives and policies

Overview
The group’s principal financial instruments comprise derivatives, borrowings and overdrafts, and cash and cash equivalents. These 
financial instruments are used to manage interest rate and currency exposures, funding and liquidity requirements and share price 
exposure arising under the group’s employee incentive schemes. Other financial instruments which arise directly from the group’s 
operations include trade receivables and payables (see notes 18 and 23 respectively).

It is, and has always been, the group’s policy that no derivative is entered into for trading or speculative purposes.

The main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
Additionally, the group is exposed to commodity price risk and share price risk. The board of directors review and agree policies for 
managing these risks as summarised below. 

Interest rate risk
The group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the group’s long-term debt obligations with 
floating interest rates.

The group’s policy is to manage its interest cost by maintaining a mix of fixed and variable rate debt. The group’s policy is to have an 
average over the next three years of between 25% and 80% of its borrowings at fixed rates of interest. To manage this, the group enters 
into interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps and forward rate agreements which are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. 
At 29 September 2013 after taking into account the effect of these instruments, approximately 97% of the group’s borrowings are at a 
fixed rate of interest (2012: 86%).

business review
fi

n
an

cial statem
en

ts
overview

shareholder inform
ation

governance

97Britvic plc Annual Report 2013



notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

24. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

Interest rate risk table
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, 
on the group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and equity (through the change in fair values of applicable 
derivative instruments). 

Increase / 
(decrease) 

in basis 
points

Effect on 
profit /loss 
before tax

£m

Effect on 
equity

£m

2013
Sterling 200 - 18.7

(200) - (22.1)
Euro 200 0.7 6.5

(200) (0.8) (7.6)
2012
Sterling 200 (0.2) 24.5

(200) 0.2 (27.6)
Euro 200 1.6 7.0

(200) (1.8) (8.4)

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is primarily in respect of exposure to fluctuations to the sterling-euro, sterling-US dollar and euro-US dollar rates of 
exchange. The group has operations in euro-denominated countries and finances these partly through the use of foreign currency 
borrowings and cross currency swaps which hedge the translation risk of net investments in foreign operations. Additionally cash 
generation from euro-denominated operations can be utilised to meet euro payment obligations in sterling denominated companies, 
providing a natural hedge.

The group also has transactional exposures arising from purchases of prime materials, capital expenditure and interest costs in currencies 
other than the functional currency of the individual group entities. Non functional currency purchases and interest costs are made in the 
currencies of US dollars and euros. As at 29 September 2013 the group has hedged 65% (2012: 69%) of forecast net exposures 12 
months in advance using forward foreign exchange contracts.

Where funding is raised in a currency other than the currency ultimately required by the group, cross currency interest rate swaps are 
used to convert the cash flows to the required currency. These swaps have the same duration and other critical terms as the underlying 
borrowing.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the US dollar and euro exchange rates, with all other 
variables held constant, of the group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the group’s 
equity (due to changes in fair value of forward exchange contracts).

Increase / 
(decrease) in 
currency rate

%

Effect on  
profit  

before tax
£m

Effect on  
equity

£m

2013
Sterling / euro 10 (1.1) 6.5

(10) 1.1 (6.5)
Sterling / US dollar 10 (0.5) 1.3

(10) 0.5 (1.3)
Euro / US dollar 10 (1.1) 1.6

(10) 1.1 (1.6)
2012
Sterling / euro 10 (0.6) 5.1

(10) 0.6 (5.1)
Sterling / US dollar 10 - 0.9

(10) - (0.9)
Euro / US dollar 10 - 0.9

(10) - (0.9)
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24. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

Credit risk
The group trades only with recognised creditworthy third parties. It is the group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit 
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that 
the group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount disclosed in note 18. For transactions 
that do not occur in the country of the relevant operating unit, the group does not offer credit terms without the approval of the Head of 
Finance Shared Services. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the group.

The group maintains a policy on counterparty credit exposures with banks and financial institutions arising from the use of derivatives and 
financial instruments. This policy restricts the investment of surplus funds and entering into derivatives to counterparties with a minimum 
credit rating maintained by either Moody’s, Standard & Poors or Fitch. The level of exposure with counterparties at various ratings levels is 
also restricted under this policy. The level of exposure and the credit worthiness of the group’s banking counterparties is reviewed 
regularly to ensure compliance with this policy.

Commodity price risk
The main commodity price risk arises in the purchases of prime materials, being polyethylene terephthalate (PET), sugar, steel and frozen 
concentrated orange juice. Where it is considered commercially advantageous, the group enters into fixed price contracts with suppliers 
to hedge against unfavourable commodity price changes.

Share schemes equity price risk
The group operates several employee incentive share schemes. It has an exposure to the share price for the schemes in which shares 
are purchased in the market to satisfy the requirements of the plan. To hedge this risk the group has entered into a number of total return 
share swaps against schemes maturing in 2014.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Britvic plc share price, with all other variables held 
constant, of the group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of the share swaps).

Increase / 
(decrease) in 

share price
%

Effect  
on profit  

before tax
£m

2013 10 0.8
(10) (0.8)

2012 10 1.5
(10) (1.5)

Liquidity risk
The group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using rolling cash flow forecasts. These forecasts consider the maturity of both its 
financial investments and financial assets (e.g. accounts receivable, other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations. The 
objective of the group’s liquidity policy is to maintain a balance between continuity of funds and flexibility through the use of bank loans 
and overdrafts and long term private placement issuance. The bank loans entered into under the £400.0m bank facility are unsecured 
however £1.0m of outstanding Britvic France bank loans are secured. At 29 September 2013, £91.6m of the group’s debt will mature in 
less than one year (2012: £0.6m).

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities at 29 September 2013 based on contractual 
undiscounted payments:

2013

Less than  
1 year

£m

1 to 5  
years

£m

> 5  
years

£m
Total

£m

Secured bank loans 0.2 0.8 0.1 1.1

Private placement notes 113.2 285.7 253.4 652.3

Derivatives hedging private placement notes - payments 67.9 229.2 215.7 512.8

Derivatives hedging private placement notes - receipts (75.0) (256.4) (226.6) (558.0)
106.1 258.5 242.5 607.1

Interest rate swap - payments 1.6 2.1 - 3.7

Interest rate swap - receipts (0.3) (0.3) - (0.6)
1.3 1.8 - 3.1

Trade and other payables 341.2 - - 341.2

Finance leases 0.2 0.3 - 0.5

Other financial liabilities 1.4 - - 1.4

450.4 261.4 242.6 954.4
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24. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

2012

Less than  
1 year

£m

1 to 5  
years

£m

> 5  
years

£m
Total

£m

Secured bank loans 0.3 0.9 0.2 1.4

Private placement notes 27.4 331.2 320.1 678.7
Derivatives hedging private placement notes - payments 18.5 243.4 265.2 527.1
Derivatives hedging private placement notes - receipts (24.8) (271.6) (286.3) (582.7)

21.1 303.0 299.0 623.1

Interest rate swap - payments 1.6 3.5 - 5.1
Interest rate swap - receipts (0.8) (1.5) - (2.3)

0.8 2.0 - 2.8

Trade and other payables 324.3 - - 324.3
Finance leases 0.3 0.5 - 0.8
Other financial liabilities 4.4 - - 4.4

351.2 306.4 299.2 956.8

In respect of the private placement notes, the periods when the cash flows are expected to occur (as shown by the tables above) and 
when they are expected to affect the consolidated income statement are the same.

Details with regard to derivative contracts are included in note 25.

All bank loans outstanding at year end were secured loans from inception

Fair value hierarchy
The group uses the following valuation hierarchy to determine the carrying value of financial instruments that are measured at fair value:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data.

2013
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m

Level 1 - -

Level 2
- Derivatives used for hedging 74.0 (8.5)

- Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 1.3 (2.9)

Level 3 - -
Total 75.3 (11.4)

2012
Assets

£m
Liabilities

£m

Level 1 - -

Level 2
- Derivatives used for hedging 92.2 (6.9)
- Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - (8.4)

Level 3 - -
Total 92.2 (15.3)
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24. Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

Capital management
The group defines ‘capital’ as being net debt plus equity.

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern and maintain an 
appropriate capital structure to balance the needs of the group to grow, whilst operating with sufficient headroom within its bank 
covenants.

The group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the group has a number of options available to it including modifying dividend payments to shareholders, returning 
capital to shareholders or issuing new shares. In this way, the group balances returns to shareholders between long term growth and 
current returns whilst maintaining capital discipline in relation to investing activities and taking any necessary action on costs to respond 
to the current environment.

The group monitors capital on the basis of the adjusted net debt / EBITDA ratio. Adjusted net debt is calculated as being the net of cash 
and cash equivalents, interest bearing loans and borrowings and the element of the fair value of interest rate currency swaps hedging the 
balance sheet value of the US private placement notes. Adjusted net debt is shown in note 29. The adjusted net debt / EBITDA ratio 
enables the group to plan its capital requirements in the medium term. The group uses this measure to provide useful information to 
financial institutions and investors.

25. Derivatives and hedge relationships 

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the group’s financial instruments, except trade and 
other receivables and payables.

Book value
2013

£m

Fair value
2013

£m

Book value
2012

£m

Fair value
2012

£m

Financial assets 

	 Cash and cash equivalents 94.0 94.0 49.5 49.5
	 Cross currency interest rate swaps * 62.5 62.5 92.1 92.1
	 Cross currency interest rate swaps ** 11.4 11.4 - -
	 Forward currency contracts ** 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
	 Share swaps ** 1.3 1.3 - -

169.3 169.3 141.7 141.7
Financial liabilities

	� Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  
(bank loans and private placement notes):

		  Fixed rate borrowings (540.1) (572.6) (549.2) (598.9)
		  Floating rate borrowings (9.3) (9.3) (9.3) (9.3)
	 Bank overdrafts (2.5) (2.5) (1.9) (1.9)
	 Finance leases (0.5) (0.5) (0.8) (0.8)
	 Forward currency contracts *** (1.2) (1.2) (1.9) (1.9)
	 Foreign exchange swaps *** (0.1) (0.1) (0.2) (0.2)
	 Cross currency interest rate swaps **** (7.3) (7.3) (5.0) (5.0)
	 Interest rate swaps *** (0.1) (0.1) - -
	 Interest rate swaps **** (2.7) (2.7) (3.5) (3.5)
	 Share swaps *** - - (2.3) (2.3)
	 Share swaps **** - - (2.4) (2.4)

(563.8) (596.3) (576.5) (626.2)

* Included within ‘Non-current assets: other financial assets’ on the consolidated balance sheet.

** Included within ‘Current assets: other financial assets’ on the consolidated balance sheet.

***	Included within ‘Current liabilities: other financial liabilities’ on the consolidated balance sheet.

**** Included within ‘Non-current liabilities: other financial liabilities’ on the consolidated balance sheet.

Non-derivative financial assets are categorised as loans and receivables as defined in IAS 39 ‘Financial instruments – recognition and 
measurement’. Non-derivative financial liabilities are all carried at amortised cost.

The fair value of derivatives, which are quoted at market price, has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
prevailing interest rates. 

The fair value of the current trade and other receivables and payables approximate to book value.

The fair value of fixed rate borrowings has been derived from the sum of future cash flows to maturity discounted back to present values 
at a market rate.
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25. Derivatives and hedge relationships continued

Derivatives not designated as part of hedge relationships
Interest rate swaps
The 2009 USPP cross currency swaps converted an amount of US dollar borrowings into a floating rate euro liability. To mitigate exposure 
to changes in euro interest rates on this liability, €75.0m of interest rate swaps were transacted. These 5-year fixed rate swaps had an 
effective start date of December 2010.

From the 2010 USPP issuance an amount of $55m was swapped into a floating rate sterling liability. To mitigate exposure for a proportion 
of this liability, £20.0m of 2-year interest rate swaps were transacted with an effective date of December 2011.

Share swaps
The group operates several employee incentive share schemes. It has an exposure to the share price for the schemes in which shares 
are purchased in the market to satisfy the requirements of the plan. To hedge this risk the group has entered into a number of total return 
share swaps against schemes maturing in 2014.

FX swaps
As part of operational cash management €82.5m of euro / sterling FX swaps were in existence at 29 September 2013 (2012: €83.0m).

Hedging activities
The group has a number of derivative contracts which are designated as part of effective hedge relationships. These are included in other 
financial assets and liabilities as follows:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Consolidated balance sheet

Non-current assets: other financial assets

Fair value of the 2007 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps ¹ 36.9 49.9
Fair value of the 2009 USD GBP cross currency floating interest rate swaps ³ 20.2 27.1
Fair value of the 2009 GBP euro cross currency floating interest rate swaps ² 5.4 11.1
Fair value of the 2010 USD GBP cross currency floating interest rate swaps ³ - 1.6
Fair value of the 2010 GBP euro cross currency fixed interest rate swaps ² - 2.4

62.5 92.1

Current assets: other financial assets

Fair value of the 2007 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps ¹ 11.4 -
Fair value of forward currency contracts ¹ 0.1 0.1
Fair value of share swaps 1.3 -

12.8 0.1

Current liabilities: other financial liabilities

Fair value of forward currency contracts ¹ (1.2) (1.9)
Fair value of share swaps - (2.3)
Fair value of foreign exchange swaps (0.1) (0.2)
Fair value of interest rate swaps (0.1) -

(1.4) (4.4)

Non-current liabilities: other financial liabilities

Fair value of the 2010 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps ¹ (4.9) (5.0)
Fair value of the 2010 GBP euro cross currency fixed interest rate swaps ² (1.6) -
Fair value of the 2010 USD GBP cross currency floating interest rate swaps ³ (0.8) -
Fair value of share swaps - (2.4)
Fair value of interest rate swaps (2.7) (3.5)

(10.0) (10.9)

¹ Instruments designated as part of a cash flow hedge relationship

² Instruments designated as part of a net investment hedge relationship

³ Instruments designated as part of a fair value hedge relationship
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25. Derivatives and hedge relationships continued

There have been no significant changes to derivative contracts designated as part of effective hedge relationships in the period. As at the 
29 September 2013 these hedging relationships are categorised as follows:

Cash flow hedges
Forward currency contracts
At 29 September 2013, the group held 99 (2012: 68) US dollar and 47 (2012: 38) euro forward exchange contracts (the ‘forward currency 
contracts’) designated as hedges of expected future purchases from suppliers in US dollars and euros which the group believe to be 
highly probable transactions. The forward currency contracts are being used to hedge the foreign currency risk of these highly probable 
transactions. 

The forward currency contracts hedge the expected future purchases in the period to 15 October 2014 and have been assessed as part of 
effective cash flow hedge relationships. At the period end there is a net unrealised loss of £1.2m (2012: net unrealised loss of £1.8m), 
with a related deferred tax asset of £0.3m (2012: related deferred tax asset of £0.4m), which has been included in equity in respect of 
these contacts.

The terms of these forward contracts are detailed in the table below.

Forward contracts to hedge expected future purchases Maturity range Average exchange rate

2013
£ / US$ 20.9m Oct 2013 to Oct 2014 $1.56/£
£ / € 77.6m Oct 2013 to Sep 2014 €1.18/£
€ / US$ 21.2m Oct 2013 to Sep 2014 $1.33/€
2012
£ / US$ 13.8m Oct 2012 to Sep 2013 $1.57/£
£ / € 64.3m Oct 2012 to Sep 2013 €1.22/£
€ / US$ 14.0m Oct 2012 to Mar 2013 $1.27/€

Cross currency interest rate swaps 
2007 Notes / 2007 USD GBP cross currency interest rate swaps
The group continues to have a number of cross currency interest rate swaps relating to the 2007 Notes. These cross currency interest 
rate swaps (the ‘2007 cross currency interest rate swaps’) have the effect of fixing the borrowings into sterling and the rate of interest 
payable on the 2007 Notes.

The 2007 cross currency interest rate swap instruments have the same duration and other critical terms as the 2007 Notes and continue 
to be designated as part of a cash flow hedge relationship with the 2007 Notes. This has been assessed to be a highly effective 
relationship as at 29 September 2013. 

The fair value of the 2007 cross currency interest rate swap instruments on the balance sheet at 29 September 2013 is:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Consolidated balance sheet

Non-current assets: other financial assets

Fair value of the 2007 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps 36.9 49.9

Current assets: other financial assets

Fair value of the 2007 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps 11.4 -

The movement in the fair value has been taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. A total loss of £0.4m (2012: 
£8.7m gain) has been recycled to the consolidated income statement in the year to match the foreign exchange gain on the 2007 Notes.

Within equity there is a net unrealised gain of £6.5m (2012: net unrealised gain of £8.4m) with a related deferred tax liability of £1.3m 
(2012: deferred tax liability of £1.9m) in respect of the 2007 cross currency interest rate swap instruments. 

2010 Notes / 2010 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps
The group continues to have a number of cross currency interest rate swaps relating to the 2010 Notes. These instruments swap the 
principal and interest from US dollars into sterling (the ‘2010 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps’).

The 2010 USD GBP cross currency interest rate swaps, which swap interest from fixed US dollar to fixed sterling, are designated as part 
of a cash flow hedge relationship with the future cash flows associated with the 2010 Notes. This has been assessed to be a highly 
effective relationship as at 29 September 2013. 

business review
fi

n
an

cial statem
en

ts
overview

shareholder inform
ation

governance

103Britvic plc Annual Report 2013
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25. Derivatives and hedge relationships continued

The fair value of these instruments on the balance sheet at 29 September 2013 is:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Consolidated balance sheet

Non-current liabilities: other financial liabilities

Fair value of the 2010 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps (4.9) (5.0)

The movement in fair value has been taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. A total loss of £0.1m (2012: £2.5m 
gain) has been recycled to the consolidated income statement to match the foreign exchange gain on the 2010 Notes. 

Within equity there is a net unrealised loss of £1.9m (2012: net unrealised loss of £1.9m) with a related deferred tax asset of £0.4m (2012: 
deferred tax asset of £0.4m) in respect of the 2010 cross currency interest rate swap instruments. 

Fair value hedges
2009 Notes / 2009 USD GBP cross currency interest rate swaps
The group continues to have a number of cross currency interest rate swaps in respect of the 2009 Notes. These instruments swap the 
principal and interest from fixed US dollar into floating sterling (the ‘2009 USD GBP cross currency interest rate swaps’). 

The 2009 USD GBP cross currency interest rate swaps are designated as part of a fair value hedge relationship with the 2009 Notes. The 
fair value movements on the 2009 USD GBP cross currency interest rate instruments are recorded in the consolidated income statement, 
as is the fair value movement in the 2009 Notes. 

The 2009 USD GBP cross currency interest rate swap contracts have the same duration and other critical terms as the 2009 Notes they 
hedge. The 2009 USD GBP cross currency interest rate swaps have been assessed as part of a highly effective hedge relationship as at 
29 September 2013. 

The fair value of the swap instruments at 29 September 2013, included within ‘Non-current assets: other financial assets’ on the 
consolidated balance sheet, was £20.2m (2012: Non-current assets: other financial assets £27.1m).

2010 Notes / 2010 USD GBP cross currency floating interest rate swaps
The group has entered into swap instruments which swap the principal and fixed rate interest of the 2010 Notes to floating sterling (‘2010 
USD GBP cross currency floating interest rate swaps’). These instruments are designated as part of a fair value hedge relationship with 
the 2010 Notes. 

The fair value movements on the 2010 USD GBP cross currency floating interest rate swaps are recorded in the consolidated income 
statement, as is the fair value movement of the hedged item. The swap contracts have the same duration and other critical terms as the 
2010 Notes they hedge. 

The 2010 USD GBP cross currency floating interest rate swaps have been assessed as part of a highly effective hedge relationship as at 
29 September 2013. 

The fair value of the swap instruments at 29 September 2013, included within ‘Non-current liabilities: other financial liabilities’ on the 
consolidated balance sheet was £0.8m (2012: Non-current assets: other financial assets £1.6m).

Net investment hedges
2009 GBP euro cross currency interest rate swaps
These instruments swap floating sterling liabilities into floating euro liabilities. They have been designated as part of an effective hedge of 
the net investment in Britvic Ireland. 

The 2009 GBP euro cross currency interest rate swaps, along with the underlying loan instruments, are being used to hedge the group’s 
exposure to foreign exchange risk on this euro investment. Movements in the fair value of the 2009 GBP euro cross currency interest rate 
swaps are taken to equity where they offset foreign exchange movements on the translation of the net investment in Britvic Ireland. 

The fair value of the 2009 GBP euro cross currency interest rate swaps at 29 September 2013, included within ‘Non-current assets: other 
financial assets’ on the consolidated balance sheet is £5.4m (2012: ‘Non-current assets: other financial assets’ of £11.1m). No 
ineffectiveness has been recognised in the consolidated income statement (2012: £nil).

2010 GBP euro cross currency interest rate swaps
These instruments swap fixed sterling liabilities arising from the 2010 USD GBP cross currency fixed interest rate swaps into fixed euro 
liabilities and have been designated as part of an effective hedge of the net investment in Britvic France. 

The 2010 GBP euro cross currency interest rate swaps, along with the underlying loan instruments, are being used to hedge the group’s 
exposure to foreign exchange risk on this euro investment. Movements in the fair value of the 2010 GBP euro cross currency interest rate 
swaps are taken to equity where they offset foreign exchange movements on the translation of the net investment in Britvic France. 

The fair value of the 2010 GBP euro cross currency interest rate swaps at 29 September 2013, included within ‘Non-current liabilities: 
other financial liabilities’ on the consolidated balance sheet is £1.6m (2012: ‘Non-current assets: other financial assets’ of £2.4m). No 
ineffectiveness has been recognised in the consolidated income statement (2012: £nil).
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25. Derivatives and hedge relationships continued

The impact on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income of the derivatives and hedge relationships described above is 
summarised in the table below.

2013
 £m

2012
 £m

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Amounts recycled to the income statement in respect of cash flow hedges

Forward currency contracts* 0.6 (1.7)
2007 cross currency interest rate swaps** (0.4) 8.7
2010 cross currency interest rate swaps** (0.1) 2.5

0.1 9.5

Gains/(losses) in the period in respect of cash flow hedges

Forward currency contracts 0.1 (1.6)
2007 cross currency interest rate swaps (1.6) (11.7)
2010 cross currency interest rate swaps 0.1 (3.7)

(1.4) (17.0)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Movement on 2009 GBP euro cross currency interest rate swaps (5.7) 10.5
Movement on 2010 GBP euro cross currency interest rate swaps (4.0) 3.5
Exchange movements on translation of foreign operations 9.7 (17.9)

- (3.9)

* Offsetting amounts recorded in cost of sales.

** Offsetting amounts recorded in finance costs.

26. Other non-current liabilities

2013
£m

2012
£m

Firm commitment 1.9 1.9

A firm commitment exists in respect of the receipt of the 2009 and 2010 Notes. 

27. Provisions

Restructuring
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

At 30 September 2012 - 2.4 2.4*
Provisions made during the year 11.4 - 11.4
Provisions used during the year (2.9) (0.4) (3.3)
Exchange differences (0.1) 0.1 -
At 29 September 2013 8.4 2.1 10.5

* Included within trade and other payables in 2012

Restructuring provisions
During the 52 week period ended 29 September 2013, the group committed to a restructuring plan to reduce costs across the supply 
chain and back office functions. Following the announcement of the plan, the group recognised a provision of £11.4m for expected 
restructuring costs, including contract termination costs, consultation fees and employee termination benefits. Estimated costs were 
based on the terms of relevant contracts. It is expected that the remaining provision will be utilised within 2014.

Other provisions
Other provisions at 29 September 2013 and 30 September 2012, primarily relate to onerous lease provisions that have arisen due to the 
exit of certain group premises, and range from 3 to 10 years.
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28. Share-based payments

The expense recognised for share-based payments in respect of employee services received during the 52 weeks ended 29 September 
2013, including national insurance of £1.1m (2012: £0.4m) and dividend equivalents of £nil (2012: £1.0m), is £6.2m (2012: £3.0m). This 
expense arises from transactions which are expected to be equity-settled share-based payment transactions. 

The Britvic Share Incentive Plan (SIP)
The SIP is an all-employee plan approved by HMRC. The plan allows for discretionary annual awards of free ordinary shares with a value 
of 3% of salary (subject to HMRC maximum limits) together with an offer of matching shares on the basis of one free matching share for 
each ordinary share purchased with a participant’s savings, up to a maximum of £50 (2012: £50) per four week pay period. Employees are 
entitled to receive the annual free share award, where granted by the group, provided they are employed by the company on the last day 
of each financial year and on the award date. There are no cash settlement alternatives.

Awards made during the period are shown in the table below. The fair value of these awards is equivalent to the intrinsic value of the 
shares.

No. of shares

2013 2012

Annual free shares award - -
Matching shares award – 1 free share for every ordinary share purchased 185,563 281,662

The Britvic Executive Share Option Plan (Option Plan)
The Option Plan allows for options to buy ordinary shares to be granted to selected employees. The option price is the average market 
price of Britvic plc’s shares on the three business days before the date of grant. Options become exercisable on the satisfaction of the 
performance condition and remain exercisable until ten years after the date of grant.

The performance condition requires average growth in EPS of 7% pa over a three year period in excess of the average growth in RPI over 
the same period for the options to vest in full. If EPS growth averages 3% per annum in excess of RPI growth, 25% (2012: 25%) of the 
options will vest. Straight-line apportionment will be applied between these two levels to determine the number of options that vest and 
no options will vest if average EPS growth is below the lower threshold.

In some circumstances, at the discretion of the company, an option holder who exercises his/her option may receive a cash payment 
rather than the ordinary shares under option. The cash payment would be equal to the amount by which the market value of the ordinary 
shares under option exceeds the option price. However, it is expected that this plan will be equity-settled and as a consequence has been 
accounted for as such.

The following table illustrates the movements in the number of share options during the period.

Number  
of share 
options

Weighted 
average  
exercise  

price
(pence)

Outstanding as at 2 October 2011 8,764,386 314.8
Granted during the period 2,175,767 331.6
Exercised during the period (244,499) 233.1
Forfeited during the period (246,138) 406.4
Lapsed during the period (9,496) 347.0
Outstanding at 30 September 2012 10,440,020 318.0
Granted during the period 1,583,878 427.5
Exercised during the period (2,220,417) 253.7
Forfeited during the period (573,284) 367.7
Lapsed during the period (1,994,425) 364.4
Outstanding at 29 September 2013 7,235,772 347.1
Exercisable at 29 September 2013 2,739,540 257.1

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the period was 491.1p (2012: 362.2p).

The share options outstanding as at 29 September 2013 had a weighted average remaining contractual life of 6.8 years (2012: 6.7 years) 
and the range of exercise prices was 221.0p – 464.6p (2012: 221.0p – 464.6p).

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the period was 79.8p (2012: 58.2p).

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial model, taking account of the 
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
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The Britvic Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The PSP allows for awards of ordinary shares or nil cost options to be made to selected employees with vesting subject to the 
satisfaction of a performance condition. Different performance conditions apply to different groups of employees. Awards up to and 
including 2008 were made in respect of ordinary shares. Awards granted since 2009 have been in respect of nil cost options. Nil cost 
options become exercisable on the satisfaction of the performance conditions and remain exercisable until 10 years / 7 years after the 
date of grant for employees based in the UK / Ireland respectively.

The performance condition applying to the total number of awards granted to members of the senior leadership team during the current 
period is divided equally between the total shareholder return (“TSR”) and return on invested capital (“ROIC”) performance conditions 
described below. 

The TSR condition measures the company’s TSR relative to a comparator group (consisting of 18 companies) over a three year 
performance period. The awards will not vest unless the company’s position in the comparator group is at least median. At median 25% 
(2012: 25%) will vest, rising on a straight-line basis to 100% vesting at upper quartile.

For the award granted during the 52 weeks ended 29 September 2013, the ROIC performance condition requires the company’s ROIC to 
be at least 21.5% (2012: 22.3%) over the three year performance period for the award to vest in full. If ROIC is 20.7% (2012: 21.5%) over 
the performance period, 25% (2012: 25%) of the award will vest. Straight-line apportionment will be applied between these two levels to 
determine the percentage of awards that vest and no awards will vest if ROIC is below the lower threshold.

Awards granted to members of the senior management team vest solely subject to a performance condition which requires average 
growth in EPS of 7% pa over a three year period in excess of the growth in RPI over the same period for the awards to vest in full. If EPS 
growth averages 3% pa in excess of RPI growth, 25% (2012: 25%) of the awards will vest. Straight-line apportionment will be applied 
between these two levels to determine the number of awards that vest and no awards will vest if average EPS growth is below the lower 
threshold.

In some circumstances, at the discretion of the company, vested awards may be satisfied by a cash payment rather than a transfer of 
ordinary shares. However, it is expected that this plan will be equity-settled and as a consequence has been accounted for as such.

The following tables illustrate the movements in the number of shares and nil cost options during the period.

Number of shares 
subject to

TSR condition

Number of shares 
subject to 

EPS condition

Number of shares 
subject to ROIC 

condition

Outstanding at 2 October 2011 584,781 1,095,428 584,779
Granted during the period - 14,997 -
Vested during the period* (532,156) (916,249) (532,157)
Outstanding at 30 September 2012 and 29 September 2013 52,625 194,176 52,622

Number of nil cost 
options subject to

TSR condition

Number of nil cost 
options subject to 

EPS condition

Number of nil cost 
options subject to 

ROIC condition

Outstanding at 2 October 2011 699,278 1,342,025 699,278
Granted during the period 481,128 1,001,479 481,128
Forfeited during the period (62,591) (313,138) (62,591)
Outstanding at 30 September 2012 1,117,815 2,030,366 1,117,815
Granted during the period 372,514 746,155 372,514
Forfeited during the period (116,080) (244,435) (116,080)
Lapsed during the period (353,192) (578,173) (353,192)
Outstanding at 29 September 2013 1,021,057 1,953,913 1,021,057

* The share price on the date of vesting was 329.8p.

There were no nil cost options exercisable at 29 September 2013 (2012: nil).

The nil cost options outstanding as at 29 September 2013 had a weighted average remaining contracted life of 8.2 years (TSR condition) 
(2012: 8.2 years), 8.3 years (EPS condition) (2012: 8.0 years) and 8.2 years (ROIC condition) (2012: 8.2 years).

The weighted average fair value of nil cost options granted during the period was 203.1p (TSR condition) (2012: 194.2p), 381.5p (EPS 
condition) (2012: 323.0p) and 250.2p (ROIC condition) (2012: 322.7p).
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28. Share-based payments continued

The Britvic Performance Share Plan (PSP)
The fair value of equity-settled shares and nil cost options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using separate models, taking 
account of the terms and conditions upon which the shares and nil cost options were granted. The fair value of the options subject to the 
TSR condition is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. The fair value of all other options is calculated using the share price at the 
date of grant, adjusted for dividends not received during the vesting period.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used in respect of the Option Plan and PSP awards granted during the 52 weeks ended 
29 September 2013. The comparative shows the inputs to the model used in respect of the awards granted during the 52 weeks ended 
30 September 2012.

2013 2012

Dividend yield (%) 4.45 3.6
Expected volatility (%) 32.2 27.9
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.8 0.8
Expected life of option (years) 5.0 5.0
Share price at date of grant (pence) 421.0 329.8
Exercise price (pence) 427.5 331.6

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be 
the actual outcome.

29. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

Analysis of net debt

2012
£m

Cash flows
£m

Exchange 
differences

£m

Other  
movement

£m
2013

£m

Cash at bank and in hand 49.5 44.4 0.1 - 94.0

Bank overdrafts (1.9) (0.4) (0.2) - (2.5)

Debt due within one year (0.6) 0.9 (0.3) (91.6) (91.6)

Debt due after more than one year (558.7) - 9.0 91.4 (458.3)

(511.7) 44.9 8.6 (0.2) (458.4)

Derivatives hedging the balance sheet debt* 65.0 - (8.9) - 56.1

Adjusted net debt (446.7) 44.9 (0.3) (0.2) (402.3)

2011
£m

Cash flows
£m

Exchange 
differences

£m

Other  
movement

£m
2012

£m

Cash at bank and in hand 43.0 7.7 (1.2) - 49.5

Bank overdrafts - (1.9) - - (1.9)

Debt due within one year - - - (0.6) (0.6)

Debt due after more than one year (573.2) 1.0 13.5 - (558.7)

(530.2) 6.8 12.3 (0.6) (511.7)

Derivatives hedging the balance sheet debt* 78.2 - (13.2) - 65.0

Adjusted net debt (452.0) 6.8 (0.9) (0.6) (446.7)

* Represents the element of the fair value of interest rate currency swaps hedging the balance sheet value of the Notes. This amount has been disclosed separately to 
demonstrate the impact of foreign exchange movements which are included in debt due after more than one year.
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30. Commitments and contingencies

Operating lease commitments
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2013

Land and 
buildings

£m
Other

£m
Total

£m

Within one year 3.2 8.4 11.6

After one year but not more than five years 14.9 17.0 31.9

After more than five years 41.0 - 41.0
59.1 25.4 84.5

2012

Land and 
buildings

£m
Other

£m
Total

£m

Within one year 3.1 10.3 13.4
After one year but not more than five years 13.4 17.0 30.4
After more than five years 44.0 0.2 44.2

60.5 27.5 88.0

Finance lease commitments
Future minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows:

2013
£m

2012
£m

Within one year 0.2 0.3
After one year but not more than five years 0.3 0.5
More than five years - -

0.5 0.8

Due to the timing of the expiry of the finance lease commitments, there is no material difference between the total future minimum 
lease payments and their fair value.

Capital commitments
At 29 September 2013, the group has commitments of £8.0m (2012: £3.3m) relating to the acquisition of new plant and machinery.

Contingent liabilities 
The group had no material contingent liabilities at 29 September 2013 (2012: none).

business review
fi

n
an

cial statem
en

ts
overview

shareholder inform
ation

governance

109Britvic plc Annual Report 2013



notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31. Related party disclosures 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Britvic plc and the subsidiaries listed in the table below. 
Particulars of dormant and non-trading subsidiaries which do not principally affect the group results have been excluded.

Name Principal activity Country of incorporation % equity interest

Directly held

Britannia Soft Drinks Limited Holding company England and Wales 100
Britvic Finance No 2 Limited Financing company Jersey 100

Indirectly held

Britvic International Limited Marketing and distribution of soft drinks England and Wales 100
Britvic Soft Drinks Limited Manufacture and sale of soft drinks England and Wales 100
Britvic Irish Holdings Limited Holding company Republic of Ireland 100
Britvic Ireland Limited Manufacture and marketing of soft drinks Republic of Ireland 100
Britvic Northern Ireland Limited Marketing and distribution of soft drinks Republic of Ireland 100
Aquaporte Limited Supply of water-coolers and bottled water Republic of Ireland 100
Britvic Worldwide Brands Limited Marketing and distribution of soft drinks Republic of Ireland 100
Britvic Property Partnership Financing company Scotland 100
Britvic North America LLC Marketing and distribution of soft drinks USA 100
Britvic France SNC Holding partnership France 100
Fruité Entreprises SA Holding company France 100
Fruité SAS Manufacture and sale of soft drinks France 100
Bricfruit SAS Manufacture and sale of soft drinks France 100
Unisource SAS Manufacture and sale of soft drinks France 100
Teisseire SAS Manufacture and sale of soft drinks France 100
Teisseire Benelux SA Marketing and distribution of soft drinks France 100

Key management personnel are deemed to be the Executive and Non-Executive Directors of the company and members of the Executive 
Committee. The compensation payable to key management in the period is detailed below.

2013
£m

2012
£m

Short-term employee benefits 6.6 3.0
Post-employment benefits 0.1 0.6
Share-based payment 1.1 0.4

7.8 4.0

See note 8 for details of directors’ emoluments.

There were no other related party transactions requiring disclosure in these financial statements.

32. Going concern

The directors are confident that it is appropriate for the going concern basis to be adopted in preparing the financial statements. As at 29 
September 2013, the consolidated balance sheet is showing a net assets position of £40.9m (30 September 2012: net assets of £37.1m).

Group reserves are low due to the capital restructuring undertaken at the time of flotation. This does not impact on Britvic plc’s ability to 
make dividend payments.

The liquidity of the group remains strong in particular with £491.2m of private placement notes with maturity dates between 2014 and 
2022 and a £400.0m bank facility maturing in March 2016. In addition, it is expected that additional private placement notes will be 
secured in December 2013 subject to completion of documentation and due diligence (see note 21).
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We have audited the parent company financial statements of 
Britvic plc for the 52 week period ended 29 September 2013 which 
comprise the Company Balance Sheet and the related notes 1 to 
17. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice).

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, 
in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.  

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement 
set out on page 59, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the parent company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all 
the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to  
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information that is apparently 
materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If 
we become aware of any apparent material misstatements  
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the parent company financial statements:

• �give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as 
at 29 September 2013;

• �have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• �have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion:

• �the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 
2006; and

• ��the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is 
consistent with the parent company financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in 
our opinion:

• � �adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

• � �the parent company financial statements and the part of the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• � �certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law 
are not made; or

• � �we have not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit.

Other matter
We have reported separately on the group financial statements of 
Britvic plc for the 52 week period ended 29 September 2013.

Simon O’Neill (Senior statutory auditor) 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Birmingham

25 November 2013

business review
fi

n
an

cial statem
en

ts
overview

shareholder inform
ation

governance

111Britvic plc Annual Report 2013

independent auditor’s report to the 
members of Britvic plc



Note
2013

£m
2012

£m

Non-current assets

Investments in group undertakings 6 748.7 742.5
Other financial assets 11 62.5 92.1

811.2 834.6

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 8 59.2 3.1
Deferred tax asset 7 0.7 0.9
Other financial assets 11 11.4 -

71.3 4.0
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 9 (69.8) (14.1)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 10 (117.9) (22.4)
Other financial liabilities 11 (0.1) (0.2)

(187.8) (36.7)
Net current liabilities (116.5) (32.7)
Total assets less current liabilities 694.7 801.9

Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 10 (457.2) (557.1)
Other financial liabilities 11 (10.0) (8.6)
Other non-current liabilities 12 (1.9) (1.9)

(469.1) (567.6)

Net assets 225.6 234.3

Capital and reserves

Issued share capital 13 49.0 48.5
Share premium account 14 25.0 17.7
Own shares reserve 14 (1.1) (0.8)
Share scheme reserve 14 7.5 4.2
Hedging reserve 14 4.6 6.4
Merger reserve 14 87.3 87.3
Retained earnings 14 53.3 71.0
Equity shareholders’ funds 225.6 234.3

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 25 November 2013. They were signed on its 
behalf by:

Simon Litherland	 John Gibney 
Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial Officer
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1. Parent undertaking

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the measurement of derivative instruments at fair 
value. They have been drawn up to comply with applicable accounting standards in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 

These accounts have been prepared under UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and present information about the company as 
an individual undertaking, and not about its group.

The company has taken advantage of the exemption permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to publish its individual 
profit and loss account and related notes.

The company is exempt from the requirements of Financial Reporting Standard No.1 (Revised) “Cash Flow Statements”.

2. Accounting policies

Investments
The company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at cost less any provisions made for impairment.

In respect of FRS 20 ‘Share-based payment’, the company records an increase in its investment in subsidiaries to reflect the share-based 
compensation expense recorded by its subsidiaries. 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Interest bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method or at fair value.

Finance costs arising from the outstanding loan balance and finance charges are charged to the profit and loss account using an effective 
interest rate method.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the 
profit and loss account.

Issued share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividends
Dividend income is recognised when the company’s right to receive payment is established. Final dividends are recorded in the financial statements in 
the period in which they are approved by the company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are recorded in the period in which they are declared.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised, subject to certain exceptions, in respect of all material timing differences between the 
recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and for tax purposes. Those timing differences recognised include accelerated 
capital allowances, unrelieved tax losses and short term timing differences. Timing differences not recognised include those relating to 
the revaluation of fixed assets in the absence of a commitment to sell the assets, the gain on sale of assets rolled into replacement 
assets and the distribution of profits from overseas subsidiaries in the absence of any commitment by the subsidiary to make the distribution.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that they will be recovered and to the extent 
that it is regarded as probable that future taxable profits will be available against which temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences 
reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
The company uses cross currency interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations 
classified as cash flow hedges (when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction). All derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognised and subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as 
liabilities when the fair value is negative. 

For those derivatives designated as hedges and for which hedge accounting is desired, the hedging relationship is documented at its 
inception. This documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged 
and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception to be highly effective.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are taken to the profit and 
loss account. The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing interest rate swaps designated as hedging instruments is as follows: 

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the 
ineffective portion is recognised in the profit and loss account. Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the profit and loss account 
when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs.

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in equity are transferred to the profit and loss 
account. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a 
hedge is revoked, amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs and are transferred to 
the profit and loss account. If the related transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is taken to the profit and loss account. 

For fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognised in the profit and loss account. The gain 
or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk shall adjust the carrying amount of the hedged item and be recognised in 
the profit and loss account. If the hedge relationship was ineffective the hedged item would no longer be adjusted and the fair value 
gain or loss on the hedging instrument would continue to be recorded in the profit and loss account.
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notes to the company financial statements continued

3. Auditor’s remuneration

Auditor’s remuneration has been borne by another group undertaking. For further details, refer to note 7 of the consolidated financial 
statements.

4. Profit/loss of the company

The company made a profit of £23.4m in the period (2012: loss £25.3m).

5. Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of the directors of the company is borne by another group company.

2013
£m

2012
£m

Directors’ emoluments 2.7 1.5
Aggregate gains made by directors on exercise of options - 0.7

2013
No.

2012
No.

Number of directors accruing benefits under defined benefit schemes - -

6. Investments in group undertakings

2013
£m

2012
£m

Cost and net book value at the beginning of the period 742.5 739.5
Capital contribution 6.2 3.0
Cost and net book value at the end of the period 748.7 742.5

The following is a list of the principal subsidiary undertakings of which Britvic plc is, either directly or through subsidiary companies, the 
beneficial owner of the whole of the equity share capital. Particulars of dormant and non-trading subsidiaries have been excluded.

Name Principal activity
Country of  

incorporation
% equity  
interest

Directly held

Britannia Soft Drinks Limited Holding company England and Wales 100
Britvic Finance No 2 Limited Financing company Jersey 100

Indirectly held

Britvic International Limited Marketing and distribution of soft drinks England and Wales 100
Britvic Soft Drinks Limited Manufacture and sale of soft drinks England and Wales 100
Britvic Irish Holdings Limited Holding company Republic of Ireland 100
Britvic Ireland Limited Manufacture and marketing of soft drinks Republic of Ireland 100
Britvic Northern Ireland Limited Marketing and distribution of soft drinks Republic of Ireland 100
Aquaporte Limited Supply of water-coolers and bottled water Republic of Ireland 100
Britvic Worldwide Brands Limited Marketing and distribution of soft drinks Republic of Ireland 100
Britvic Property Partnership Financing company Scotland 100
Britvic North America LLC Marketing and distribution of Soft drinks USA 100
Britvic France SNC Holding partnership France 100
Fruité Entreprises SA Holding company France 100
Fruité SAS Manufacture and sale of soft drinks France 100
Bricfruit SAS Manufacture and sale of soft drinks France 100
Unisource SAS Manufacture and sale of soft drinks France 100
Teisseire SAS Manufacture and sale of soft drinks France 100
Teisseire Benelux SA Marketing and distribution of soft drinks France 100
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7. Deferred tax

2013
£m

2012
£m

Opening balance 0.9 1.4
Profit and loss account (0.2) (0.5)
Closing balance 0.7 0.9

Analysed as tax on timing differences related to:
Other 0.7 0.9

8. Trade and other receivables

2013
£m

2012
£m

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 59.2 3.0
Other receivables - 0.1

59.2 3.1

9. Trade and other payables

2013
£m

2012
£m

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings (68.7) (13.6)
Accruals and deferred income (1.1) (0.5)

(69.8) (14.1)

10. Interest bearing loans and borrowings

2013
£m

2012
£m

Current

Bank overdrafts (26.7) (22.4)
Private placement notes (92.1) -
Unamortised issue costs 0.9 -
Total current (117.9) (22.4)

Non-current

Private placement notes (459.1) (560.8)
Unamortised issue costs 1.9 3.7
Total non-current (457.2) (557.1)

Private placement notes
2007 Notes
On 20 February 2007, Britvic plc issued US$375m and £38m of Senior Notes (‘the 2007 Notes’) in the United States Private Placement 
market. The amount, maturity and interest terms of the 2007 Notes are shown in the table below:

Series Tranche Maturity date Amount Interest terms Swap terms

A 7 year 20 February 2014 US$87m US$ fixed at 5.80% UK£ fixed at 6.10%
B 7 year 20 February 2014 US$15m US$ LIBOR + 0.5% UK£ fixed at 6.07%
C 7 year 20 February 2014 £25m UK£ fixed at 6.11% n/a
D 10 year 20 February 2017 US$147m US$ fixed at 5.90% UK£ fixed at 5.98%
E 12 year 20 February 2019 US$126m US$ fixed at 6.00% UK£ fixed at 5.98%
F 12 year 20 February 2019 £13m UK£ fixed at 5.94% n/a
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notes to the company financial statements continued

10. Interest bearing loans and borrowings continued

Britvic plc makes quarterly or semi-annual interest payments in the currency of issue. The 2007 Notes are unsecured and rank pari passu 
in right of repayment with other senior unsecured indebtedness of the company. In order to manage the risk of foreign currency and 
interest rate fluctuations, the company has entered into cross currency interest rate swaps whereby fixed / floating US dollar interest is 
swapped for fixed sterling interest. The swap contracts have the same duration and other critical terms as the borrowings which they 
hedge and are considered to be effective.

2009 Notes
On 17 December 2009, Britvic plc issued US$250m of Senior Notes in the United States Private Placement market (‘the 2009 Notes’). 
The 2009 Notes are additional borrowings to the 2007 Notes.

Britvic plc makes semi-annual interest payments in US dollars. The 2009 Notes are unsecured and rank pari passu in right of repayment 
with other senior unsecured indebtedness of the group.

In order to manage foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and to ensure an appropriate mix of sterling and euro funding, the company 
has entered into a number of new cross currency interest rate swaps. The 2009 Notes were swapped into floating rate sterling and euro 
liabilities through a series of US dollar to sterling and sterling to euro swap instruments. The US dollar to sterling cross currency interest 
rate swap contracts have the same duration and other critical terms as the relevant borrowings they hedge and are designated as part of 
effective hedge relationships.

The amount, maturity and interest terms of the 2009 Notes are shown in the table below:

Series Tranche Maturity date Amount Interest terms Swap terms

A 5 year 17 December 2014 US$30m US$ fixed at 4.07% UK£ LIBOR + 1.44%
B 7 year 17 December 2016 US$75m US$ fixed at 4.77% EURIBOR + 1.69%
C 8 year 17 December 2017 US$25m US$ fixed at 4.94% EURIBOR + 1.70%
D 10 year 17 December 2019 US$120m US$ fixed at 5.24% EURIBOR + 1.75%

The 2009 USPP cross currency swaps converted an amount of US dollar borrowings into a floating rate euro liability. To mitigate exposure 
to changes in euro interest rates on a portion of this liability, €75.0m of interest rate swaps were transacted. These interest rate swaps do 
not form part of an effective hedge relationship.

2010 Notes
On 17 December 2010, the company issued US$163.0m and £7.5m of Senior Notes in the United States Private Placement market (‘the 
2010 Notes’). The 2010 Notes are additional borrowings to the 2007 Notes and the 2009 Notes.

Britvic plc makes semi-annual interest payments in US dollars and sterling under these notes. The 2010 Notes are unsecured and rank 
pari passu in right of repayment with other senior unsecured indebtedness of the group.

In order to manage foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and to ensure an appropriate mix of sterling and euro funding, the company 
has entered into a number of cross currency interest rate swaps. The 2010 Notes were swapped into a mix of fixed and floating rate 
sterling and euro liabilities through a series of US dollar to sterling and sterling to euro swap instruments. These cross currency swap 
contracts have the same duration and other critical terms as the relevant borrowings they hedge and are designated as part of effective 
hedge relationships.

The amount, maturity and interest terms of the 2010 Notes are shown in the table below:

Series Tranche Maturity date Amount Interest terms Swap terms

A 7 year 17 December 2017 £7.5m UK£ fixed at 3.74% N/A
B 7 year 17 December 2017 US$25m US$ fixed at 3.45% UK£ fixed 3.85%

US$25m US$ fixed at 3.45% € fixed 3.34%
C 10 year 17 December 2020 US$37m US$ fixed at 4.04% UK£ LIBOR +1.24%

US$23m US$ fixed at 4.04% € fixed 3.85%
US$10m US$ fixed at 4.04% UK£ fixed 4.49%

D 12 year 17 December 2022 US$18m US$ fixed at 4.14% UK£ LIBOR +1.18%
US$25m US$ fixed at 4.14% € fixed 3.97%

The 2010 USPP cross currency swaps converted an amount of US dollar borrowings into a floating rate sterling liability. To mitigate 
exposure to interest rates on a portion of this liability, £20.0m of 2-year interest rate swaps were transacted with an effective date of 
December 2011. These interest rate swaps do not form part of an effective hedge relationship.

2014 Notes
In November 2013, the group reached agreement with a number of investors in the US private placement market to raise an additional 
$170.4m equivalent of funding for terms of between 7 and 12 years. This funding is subject to documentation and due diligence which is 
scheduled to be completed in December 2013. Where this funding is dollar-denominated this has been hedged using cross-currency 
interest-rate swaps to meet the group’s desired funding profile and to manage the associated foreign currency risk to the profit and loss 
account.
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11. Other financial asset and financial liabilities

2013
£m

2012
£m

Other financial assets: non-current
Cross currency interest rate swaps relating to the 2007 Notes 36.9 49.9
Cross currency interest rate swaps relating to the 2009 Notes 25.6 38.2
Cross currency interest rate swaps relating to the 2010 Notes - 4.0

62.5 92.1

Other financial assets: current
Cross currency interest rate swaps relating to the 2007 Notes 11.4 -

11.4 -

Other financial liabilities: current
Foreign exchange swaps - (0.2)
Interest rate swaps (0.1) -

(0.1) (0.2)

Other financial liabilities: non-current
Cross currency interest rate swaps relating to the 2010 Notes (7.3) (5.0)
Interest rate swaps (2.7) (3.6)

(10.0) (8.6)

12. Other non-current liabilities

2013
£m

2012
£m

Firm commitment (1.9) (1.9)

A firm commitment exists in respect of the receipt of the 2009 and 2010 Notes. 

13. Issued share capital

The issued share capital is wholly comprised of ordinary shares carrying one voting right each. The nominal value of each ordinary share is 
£0.20. There are no restrictions placed on the distribution of dividends, or the return of capital on a winding up or otherwise.

Issued, called up and fully paid ordinary shares No. of shares
Value

£

At 2 October 2011 241,400,052 48,280,010
Shares issued 944,499 188,900
At 30 September 2012 242,344,551 48,468,910
Shares issued 2,746,477 549,295
At 29 September 2013 245,091,028 49,018,205 

Of the issued and fully paid ordinary shares, 231,547 shares (2012: 217,994 shares) are own shares held by an employee benefit trust. 
This equates to £46,309 (2012: £43,599) at £0.20 par value of each ordinary share. These shares are held for the purpose of satisfying the 
share schemes detailed in note 28.

An explanation of the group’s capital management process and objectives is set out in note 24 of the consolidated accounts.
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notes to the company financial statements continued

14. Reconciliation of movement in equity shareholders’ funds

Issued share 
capital

£m

Share 
premium 
account

£m

Own shares 
reserve

£m

Share 
scheme 
reserve

£m

Hedging 
reserve

£m

 Merger 
reserve

£m

Retained 
earnings

£m
Total

£m

At 30 September 2012 48.5 17.7 (0.8) 4.2 6.4 87.3 71.0 234.3
Profit for the year - - - - - - 23.4 23.4

Issue of shares 0.5 7.3 (2.1) - - - - 5.7

Own shares utilised for share schemes - - 1.8 (1.8) - - 1.4 1.4

Movement in share based schemes - - - 5.1 - - - 5.1

Movement in cash flow hedges - - - - (1.8) - - (1.8)

Payment of dividend - - - - - - (42.5) (42.5)
At 29 September 2013 49.0 25.0 (1.1) 7.5 4.6 87.3 53.3 225.6

15. Dividends paid and proposed

2013
£m

2012
£m

Declared and paid during the period
Equity dividends on ordinary shares
	 Final dividend for 2012: 12.4p per share (2011: 12.6p per share) 29.6 29.9
	 Interim dividend for 2013: 5.4p per share (2012: 5.3p per share) 12.9 12.6
Dividends paid 42.5 42.5
Proposed 
	 Final dividend for 2013: 13.0p per share (2012: 12.4p per share) 31.7 30.1

16. Contingent liabilities

The company is co-guarantor of the group’s bank loan and overdraft facilities.

17. Related party transactions

The company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 8 available to a parent company not to disclose transactions with its 
wholly owned subsidiaries within its financial statements.
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Range of holdings
Number of  

shareholders

Percentage  
of total  

shareholders
Ordinary  

shares (million)

Percentage  
of issued  

share capital

1 - 199 204 7.70% 13,516 0.01%
200 - 499 278 10.50% 91,330 0.04%
500 - 999 424 16.01% 296,889 0.12%
1000 - 4999 1,079 40.75% 2,278,188 0.93%
5000 - 9999 226 8.53% 1,462,922 0.60%
10000 - 49999 174 6.57% 4,125,813 1.68%
50000 - 99999 68 2.57% 5,057,231 2.06%
100000 - 499999 116 4.38% 25,955,294 10.59%
500000 - 999999 24 0.91% 16,886,381 6.89%
1000000 Plus 55 2.08% 188,923,464 77.08%
  2,648 100.00% 245,091,028 100.00%

Category
Number of  

shareholders

Percentage  
of total  

shareholders
Ordinary  

shares (million)

Percentage  
of issued  

share capital

Private Individuals 1,635 61.75% 5,262,629 2.15%
Nominee Companies 579 21.87% 219,923,541 89.73%
Limited and Public Limited Companies 371 14.01% 13,471,898 5.50%
Other Corporate Bodies 60 2.27% 6,227,663 2.54%
Pension Funds, Insurance Companies and Banks 3 0.11% 205,297 0.08%
  2,648 100.00% 245,091,028 100.00%

2013 Dividends

Payment Date Amount per share

Interim 12 July 2013 5.4p
Final 7 February 2014 13.0p

Dividend mandates
Shareholders who wish dividends to be paid directly into a bank or 
building society account should contact the Registrar for a dividend 
mandate form or the form can be downloaded from the company’s 
website http://ir.britvic.com/shareholder-centre/dividends.aspx 

This method of payment removes the risk of delay or loss of dividend 
cheques in the post and ensures that your account is credited on 
the due date. 

Dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) 
Shareholders can choose to reinvest dividends received to purchase 
further shares in the company through the company’s DRIP. A DRIP 
application form is available via the registrar or for download from 
the company’s website http://ir.britvic.com/shareholder-centre/
dividends.aspx 

Share dealing services
The company’s registrar, Equiniti Financial Services Limited, offers 
a telephone and internet dealing service, Shareview, which provides 
a simple and convenient way of buying and selling shares. For 
telephone dealings call 08456 037 037 between 8.00am and 
4.30pm, Monday to Friday, and for internet dealings log onto  
www.shareview.co.uk/dealing 

Individual savings accounts (ISAs) 
ISAs in Britvic plc ordinary shares are available through Equiniti 
Financial Services Limited. Further information may be obtained 
through their ISA Helpline, telephone 0845 300 0430. 

American depository receipts
Britvic American Depository Receipts (ADRs) are traded on the Over 
The Counter (OTC) market under the symbol BTVCY. One ADR 
represents two Britvic plc ordinary shares. This is a sponsored 
Level 1 ADR programme for which The Bank of New York Mellon acts 
as both Depositary Bank and Registrar. For the issuance and management 
of ADRs and any general ADR questions, please contact:

The Bank of New York Mellon 
Investor Services 
P.O. Box 11258 
Church Street Station 
New York, NY 10286-1258  
USA

Investor Helpline: �+1-888-BNY-ADRs (USA caller, toll free) 
+1 201 680 6825 (non-USA caller)

Email: shrrelations@bnymellon.com

Website: http://www.bnymellon.com/shareowner

Warning to shareholders – boiler room fraud 
and other investment scams
Share or investment scams are often run from ‘boiler rooms’ where 
fraudsters cold-call investors offering them worthless, overpriced or 
even non-existent shares, or offer to buy their shares in a company 
at a higher price than the market value. Shareholders are advised 
to be very wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares at a 
discount, or offers of free reports about the company. Even seasoned 
investors have been caught out by such fraudsters and it is estimated 
that £200 million is lost in this way in the UK each year.

The FCA have some helpful information about such scams on their 
website, including tips to protect your savings and how to report 
a suspected investment scam. Britvic encourages shareholders 
to read the information on the site which can be accessed at 
www.fca.org.uk/consumers/scams/investment-scams
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Financial calendar 

Ex-dividend date 4 December 2013 
Record date 6 December 2013 
Annual general meeting 29 January 2014
Payment of final dividend 7 February 2014 
Interim results announcement 21 May 2014

Electronic communications
Shareholders can elect to receive shareholder documents electronically 
by registering with Shareview at www.shareview.co.uk. This will 
save on printing and distribution costs, creating environmental 
benefits. When you register, you will be sent an email notification to 
say when shareholder documents are available on our website and 
you will be provided with a link to that information. When registering, 
you will need your shareholder reference number which can be 
found on your share certificate or proxy form. Please contact 
Equiniti if you require any assistance or further information.

Contacts
The Company Secretary is Clare Thomas. The registered office 
is Breakspear Park, Breakspear Way, Hemel Hempstead, 
Hertfordshire HP2 4TZ, telephone +44 (0)1442 284411, 
fax +44 (0)1442 284402, website www.britvic.com 

Shareholder inquiries to the Company Secretary may also 
be submitted to company.secretariat@britvic.co.uk

Investor Relations: investors@britvic.co.uk

This report is available to download via the company’s website 
http://ir.britvic.com/results-and-presentations/results-and-
presentations/2013.aspx

The company’s Registrar is Equiniti, Aspect House, Spencer Road, 
Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA, telephone 0871 384 2550* 
(UK callers), +44 121 415 7019 (non- UK callers).

*�For those with hearing difficulties, a textphone is available on 0871 384 2255 for 
UK callers with compatible equipment. Calls to 0871 numbers are charged at 8p 
per minute plus network extras.
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Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements
This announcement includes statements that are forward-looking in nature. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the group to be materially 
different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Except as 
required by the Listing Rules and applicable law, Britvic undertakes no obligation to update or change any forward-looking statements to 
reflect events occurring after the date such statements are published.

Definitions
(1)	�Where appropriate, comparisons are quoted using constant exchange rates. Constant currency change removes the impact of 

exchange rate movements during the period by retranslating prior year foreign currency denominated results of the group at current 
period exchange rates to aid comparability.

(2)	�EBITA is defined as operating profit before exceptional and other items and amortisation. Only amortisation attributable to intangibles 
related to acquisitions is added back, in the period this is £2.9m (2012: £2.9m as reported last year). EBITA margin is the EBITA as a 
proportion of group revenues.

(3)	�Adjusted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing adjusted earnings by the average number of shares during the period. 
Adjusted earnings is defined as the profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity shareholders before exceptional and other items 
adjusted for the adding back of acquisition related amortisation. Average number of shares during the period is defined as the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period excluding any own shares held by Britvic that are used to 
satisfy various employee share-based incentive programmes. The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for adjusted 
earnings per share for the period was 243.2m (2012: 241.6m). 

(4)	�Underlying free cash flow is defined as net cash flow excluding movements in borrowings, dividend payments and exceptional and 
other items.

(5)	�Group adjusted net debt is defined as group net debt, adding back the impact of derivatives hedging the balance sheet debt.

(6)	�Return on invested capital (ROIC) - is defined as operating profit after applying the tax rate for the period, stated before exceptional 
and other items, as a percentage of invested capital. Invested capital is defined as non-current assets plus current assets less current 
liabilities, excluding all balances relating to interest bearing liabilities and all other assets or liabilities associated with the financing and 
capital structure of the group and excluding any deferred tax balances and effective hedges relating to interest-bearing liabilities.

All numbers in this announcement, other than where stated or included within the financial statements, are disclosed before exceptional 
and other items.

The auditors have reported on the 2013 and 2012 accounts. Their reports for both years were unqualified and did not contain statements 
under section 498 (2) or (3) of the Companies Act 2006.
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